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Introduction


Belgium is a small country and Flanders has a relatively small population, but that does not mean that people from here have only played supporting roles on the world stage. Many Flemish people are known in foreign history, but it is not always possible to identify them exactly. Belgium, the Low Countries, Northern France, the Southern Netherlands, Holland, Brussels, Flanders and Wallonia ... for an outsider it is all a bit confusing. And yet, when travelling, it is always striking that traces of our culture can also be found in distant countries and that people from our country have played a significant role there.

This is also the case in North America. Pieter Minnewit, the third governor of New Netherland in New Amsterdam (New York), Louis Hennepin, the father who explored the Mississippi with La Salle, and Father Damiaan, missionary to the lepers of Molokai, are well-known figures in America. Anyone who digs a little deeper into the history of the U.S. sometimes meets lesser-known compatriots, such as Victor Eugene August Janssens who played a role in California history or a certain Hardcoop who had to pay with his life for the wrong decisions of the Donner Party in Nevada.

Pierre-Jean or Pieter-Jan De Smet is not unknown in our country, but in recent years he has faded into the background along with the missionary work, which is a pity, because De Smet was a missionary of stature. In the U.S. Peter John DeSmet is still a "well-known Fleming". As a young man, he left for North America in 1821 to become the pioneer of missionary work among the Indians in the Rocky Mountains. Until his death in 1873, De Smet mediated several times between the American government and the Native Tribes. Moreover, he made a positive impression on everyone, both Catholic and Protestant. But De Smet was especially concerned about the original population of North America. He was equally welcomed by all tribes because the Indians quickly sensed that he really cared about them.

De Smet experienced a stormy period in the history of the "Far West". He has seen his adopted city, Saint-Louis, grow rapidly into the "gateway to the west". This boom was made possible by trade with independent Mexico (1821), by the success of trappers and fur traders (1824-1841), by the rise of shipping on the Mississippi and by mass emigration from east to west (1841-1869). But that prosperity came at the expense of the Indians, who were driven further and further into despair.

During De Smet's lifetime, the states evolved towards their current borders. Texas was first independent for a while (1836), then after the Mexican war it became part of the United States together with New Mexico, Arizona, Utah, Nevada and California (1846). In the middle of the so-called "Great Desert", the Mormons finally found their "Zion" and founded the state of Deseret in present-day Utah (1847). The gold rush was the start of massive emigration waves to California (1849), Colorado (1859) and Montana (1862). But to keep all those territories together, communication between east and west had to improve dramatically. De Smet experienced the emergence of shipping on the Missouri, the construction of the first roads, the commissioning of stagecoach (1857) and courier services such as the Pony Express (1860), the commissioning of telegraph connections (1861) and transcontinental railroads (1869). De Smet also experienced the frightening years of the American Civil War in the border state of Missouri.

De Smet has seen "the West" conquered. We must realize that this ordinary boy from Dendermonde was the first European to enter a number of regions in the Northwest of America. However, he never came as an explorer or conqueror, but rather as a missionary to convert Indians and perhaps even more so as a human being, concerned about the fate of the endangered native population. De Smet has met many historical figures. He spoke to President Lincoln, traveled with the trapper Thomas Fitzpatrick and slept in the tipi of the dreaded Sitting Bull.

Of course he wasn't alone. Many more missionaries were active in the West, including some from our climes. But De Smet has written down his findings. As a result De Smet's letters and books have become an important source of information for American historians. And for us, they are a reminder of an interesting compatriot who has also meant something on a global level.

On January 30, 2001 we commemorated the bicentenary of Father Pieter-Jan De Smet and that was a good reason to write this book.


﻿





1736 - 1800 : The De Smet family


1736

In a little port on the Schelde River, St.-Amands, Katrijn Waterschoot gives birth to her ninth child, it is a boy! Catherine is the wife of Jan de Smet (1). Faithful to the tradition they bestow on the newborn baby the first name of the godfather, Joost de Smet, who is bailiff at Bornem. The newborn child will assure the continuation of the surname de Smet for generations to come. During his first eleven years Joost lives in St.-Amands (now in Belgium), in a house called Den Engel.
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1. House Den Engel in Sint-Amands (own photo)
1747

His father, Jan is a well-to-do ship-owner. To improve his business opportunities he acquires a property in Dendermonde called De Witte Hert. The house is situated on the banks of the Dender River and once belonged to the famous sculptor Willem Kerricx. The family moves to Dendermonde and Jan continues to trade with his two barges on the Schelde and the Rhine rivers, even as far as the Zuiderzee in Holland. 
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2. The old inner harbor of Dendermonde (detail oil painting, J. D'hollander, Zwijveke)
1761

Joost is 24 when he proposes to Joanna Maria Duerinck. She is the first-born of Jan Duerinck and Isabelle Feliers, both living in St.-Gillis, near Dendermonde. The young couple moves into the paternal house on the banks of the Dender. Joost decides to carry on with the profitable trade of his father and little by little he earns more responsibility in the business. His family grows rapidly. Joanna Maria and Joost have no less than 13 children. But in the Flanders of the eighteenth century child mortality is very high. A lot of children die very young due to smallpox, typhus and other lethal diseases. The names of 7 children can be found in the family records. Four of them reach adulthood. They are Jean-Baptiste, Isabelle-Françoise, Marie-Thérese en Josse-Joseph. Joost and Joanna Maria speak Flemish. The bookkeeping of the ship-owner is also in Flemish.

1791

On September 7th 1791, after 30 years of marriage, Joanna Maria passes away. 

1793

A year and six months later, on the 10th of February 1793 to be precise, Joost (56) marries Marie-Jeanne Buydens, the daughter of his friend and neighbour Martin Buydens and Marie-Elizabeth Cortvrint. The young bride is only twenty. But the marriage turns out to be very successful and his second wife gives Joost another nine children. But again few of them survive long enough to become adult people. The lucky ones are Rosalie, Charles, Pieter Joannes (Peter John), François and Marie-Jeanne De Smet. Joost corresponds in Flemish with the children of the first marriage. With the children of the second marriage, such as François and Charles, he corresponds nearly always in French.

1797 

The eldest son of Joost, Jean-Baptiste De Smet (35), works as a catholic priest in Sleidinge near Eeklo. The French Revolution is not very easy on the clergy. Jean-Baptiste refuses to submit to the French Directoire and has to go in hiding. A year later he is caught and sent to a the prison on the isle of Ré in France. From there Jean-Baptiste is to be transported to a penitentiary in French Guyana, a place of no return. But in the meantime he is allowed to work as male nurse in the military hospital of St. Martin-de-Ré. Fortunately Joost manages to pay a ransom to repurchase his elder son. Back home Jean-Baptiste returns to his activities in Sleidinge. In 1804 he moves to Heusden near Ghent, where he unexpectedly dies in 1808. 

During this same unhappy year 1797 a priest of Everberg near Leuven, Charles Nerinckx (36) has a similar experience. He also has to hide for the French gens d'armes. After having hidden successfully during four years in a hospital in Dendermonde, he finally decides to leave his occupied country and to emigrate to North-America. In 1805 bishop Caroll puts Nerinckx in charge of the catholic community of Kentucky. It is a vast area and the Apostle of Kentucky has to spend a lot of time in the saddle. 

In 1817 and 1821 Nerinckx travels to his native country in order to recruit extra missionaries for his parish in the U.S. On his first trip he manages to recruit 5 candidates : Van de Velde, Verheyen, Timmermans, De Smet (not family of Pieter Jan) and De Meyer.

1798

Enough is enough ! October 12th is the start of a popular revolt against the French occupation. Emmanuel Benedict Rollier (28) agrees to take the leadership of the rebellion in Willebroek. A peasant army fights the French regular troops in the provinces Oost-Vlaanderen, Antwerpen and Limburg. A lot of soldiers die on the  battlefields of the Boerenkrijg in Overmere, Bornem, Mechelen, Herentals, Diest and Geel. The French troops ("sanskulotten") manage to crush the rebellion in a last bloody battle in Hasselt. On the 5th of December the struggle is all over. 

Isabelle De Smet, half-sister of Pieter Jan, marries Jean-Baptiste Rollier, nephew of the famous rebel leader.
 
(1) In the 18th century the surname was generally written as de Smet. Joost, father of Pieter Jan, as well as the children of his first marriage used it. After the French revolution however, Joost and his children thought is wiser not to suggest any connection to nobility, so they adopted the orthography De Smet. At the end of the 19th century however, the family obtained a legal correction and as a result the de Smet spelling could be used once more. 
﻿





1801 - 1821 : Pieter-Jan becomes a missionary


1801

At the beginning of the nineteenth century Dendermonde shelters approximately 5,000 people. The medieval city is located at the confluence of the Dender and Schelde rivers. It is a fortified city with an important garrison. On January 30 Marie-Jeanne Buydens gives birth to the twins Pieter Jan (Peter John) and Colette-Aldegonde. The father, Joost (also Judocus or Josse) De Smet, is a wealthy ship outfitter. The war economy of France undoubtedly contributed to his fortune. The family lives in de Scheldestraat (today Franz Courtensstraat), near the embankment of the Dender River. Pieter Jan grows up next to the  Visgracht and the inner harbour of Dendermonde. Every day sailing ships are moored in front of his home. Whenever cargo has to be handled, the quiet Scheldestraat transforms into a noisy an busy place. Behind the garden of his parents house are the barracks of the old military base. Opposite and next to De Smet's birthplace are a chapel and a convent. All these elements will continue to play a significant part in the life of Pieter Jan. Joost is a pious but stern man who asks a lot of his children. This rigorous attitude is at the origin of the distance that will always exist between father and son.
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3. The birthplace in the Scheldestraat (coll. P. de Smet)
At the age of twelve Pieter Jan turns out to be a sturdy kid. His playmates even call him Samson. Along the quay and on the ships the young boy acquires a taste for adventure and travel which will remain with him for the rest of his life.

1814 

But for the moment all he can do is dream. In 1814 Pieter Jan is sent to a catholic boarding school in Beirvelde near Ghent. Two years later he moves to the boarding school of St.-Niklaas. In 1818 he joins the college of Aalst and one year later he studies at the Preparatory Seminary of Mechelen. On September 19, 1819, his world breaks down when his beloved mother suddenly dies. It is a serious blow, she is barely 47.

1821 

In June a certain Father Nerinckx preaches at the seminary in Mechelen and his graphic descriptions persuade Pieter Jan that he has found his vocation. He is determined to follow the Apostle of Kentucky to become a missionary in the U.S. But he is not the only one and Nerinckx must carefully select his candidates. Luckily the vocation of Pieter Jan is taken seriously and his name is added to the list of candidate missionaries with : Felix Verreydt (of Diest), François de Maillet (of Brussels), Jean-Antoine Elet (of St.-Amands), Jean-baptiste Smedts (of Rotselaar), Judocus Van Assche (of St.-Amands) and Van Horzig (of Hoogstraten). All these young people come from the Seminary, except Van Assche and De Smet, being students at Preparatory Seminary. Fathers Veulemans, a priest, and Verhaegen, a young professor at the Preparatory Seminary, will escort the group of young and inexperienced people. The recruits immediately leave the seminar to await their departure in the old tobacco shop Het Schip, at the corner of the St.-Janstraat and the Koestraat (today Frederic de Mérodestraat).
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4. Mechelen tobacco shop "Het Schip" (own photo)
Jesuits are not very popular and to avoid trouble, they decide to travel in separate groups. On July 23 De Smet, Elet, Smedts en Van Assche walk from Mechelen to Antwerp were they hope to find some means of transport to Amsterdam. In the Netherlands passengers of coaches have to show their passport at every city gate. At each checkpoint our four travellers leave the coaches and mingle with the local traffic. This way they manage to travel undetected through the Dutch provinces. On July 26 they arrive in Amsterdam where Nerinckx provided lodging with Dutch catholic families. Soon the whole party is reunited. De Smet is still a minor and he does not have the paternal authorization to leave the country. His father, Joost De Smet, soon knows about the business and sends his son Charles to Amsterdam with the explicit order to stop and return his minor son. But Pieter Jan convinces his older brother to let him off the hook. Charles even gives him a considerable sum of pocket money. The candidate emigrants settle in the hold of a transport ship and on July 31 they navigate on the Zuiderzee.

In the evening of August the 2nd they arrive on the island of Texel. There too they are helped and lodged by friendly catholic families. Nerinckx joins them. In the meantime Pieter Jan writes seven letters to his old father. All these letters will be retained by Jean-Baptiste Buelens, a priest from Antwerp. After the death of the priest they will be found by accident in 1868. But the constabulary is on their traces. To elude the mandatory passport control, they decide not to embark immediately. As illegal immigrants they will await the large ship on the open sea in a small boat. The plan succeeds, and thus on August 15 Nerinckx and his recruits are able to leave undetected for the new world on the brig Columbia. De Smet's father has great difficulty to accept the impulsive decision of Pieter Jan. He will die in 1827 without ever seeing his beloved son again.

(the Museum of the city of Dendermonde has in its collection a painting of the old Joost De Smet. The portrait (2) dates from 1825, two years before his death. It is on display in the Jumelage room of the town hall)
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5. Joost De Smet (coll. P.de Smet)
(2) The original portrait was painted by Frans Verhas of Dendermonde. The original painting is owned by François de Smet d' Olbecke who lives in Santiago de Chile.
﻿





1821 - 1823 : The White Marsh novitiate


1821 

At the end of September, after a successful 42 day ocean crossing, the Columbia finally approaches the mouth of the Delaware River. Nerinckx and his recruits quickly disembark on the quay of Philadelphia. After weeks of swell and swinging they are all glad to walk on a steadier surface. 

At first sight America seems very European, but this appearance vanishes quickly as one travels deeper into the country. The European version of the so called civilized world lies at the border of an unknown wilderness extending thousands of miles to the west as far as the Pacific Ocean.

The small group travels to Baltimore where they are received by monseigneur Maréchal. Here Neirinckx must leave his travelling companions. It is time for him to join his parish in Kentucky. Veulemans and Van Horzig will remain in Baltimore to as priests. The others leave the following day for Georgetown. The superior of the Jesuits in Maryland, Anthony Kohlmann, receives his new recruits with open arms and sends them to White Marsh to start their instruction. .
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6. Detail of an old map of Maryland (coll. P. de Smet)
The plantation of White Marsh belongs for ages to the American Jesuits, but the noviciate is very recent. Before it opened in 1819 students lived in Georgetown. The simple wooden building provides all the necessary comfort amidst the vast fields, vineyards and woods of the plantation. At the head of the whole enterprise is Charles Van Quickenborne, 33 years, of Petegem in the Netherlands. At the end of 1817 this energetic Jesuit arrived from Flanders in Maryland to direct the new noviciate. He is assisted by Pierre Timmermans, of Turnhout, who was recruited during previous European trip of Neirinckx. Both Jesuits are not only responsible for the students, they direct the farm, manage the construction sites, control the slaves and provide the various religious task for a vast area surrounding the property.

1823 

From White Marsh De Smet writes several unanswered letters to his old father. Communication between the United States and the Netherlands is uncertain and irregular, but the silence is difficult to bare ... In the end, after many months of anxiety and sadness, Pieter Jan receives three letters in a row and some money from his father. In his correspondence he reminds his son that he remains bitterly disappointed by his unexpected and furtive departure. 
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7. Fragment of a letter from White Marsh (coll. P. de Smet)
The noviciate depends almost entirely on the income of the plantation, but after years of monoculture the ground lost much of its fertility. The tobacco harvest is dwindling year by year and the plantation faces serious financial difficulties. The future of Whitemarsh, the noviciate and the twenty students becomes more and more uncertain. Charles Neale, who succeeded Kohlmann as provincial, considers to relocate the students. Just in time the bishop of New-Orleans, Dubourg, offers the Jesuits 85 hectares of land in Florissant, near St. Louis, and 4000 dollars to build a new noviciate. The bishop hopes this investment will help to convert the Indians of Missouri to the catholic church. The agreement is concluded at the end of March. Father Charles Van Quickenborne accompanied by Pierre Timmermans will direct the new mission. He selects three colored families for the new plantation in Florissant. Three Flemish brothers and seven students volunteer to go west, one of them is Pieter Jan. 
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(coll. P. de Smet)
On April 11 they start their long trip from Maryland to the mouth of Missouri in the Mississippi. They travel by foot with several carts over one of the first roads of the United States, the National Pike", destination Wheeling, Ohio. The first leg goes from Baltimore to Cumberland, through the Alleghany mountains. After 18 days of tireless walking the twelve clergymen and the three black families reach the banks of Ohio. In Wheeling Van Quickenborne grants them three days of rest. But on May the 3rd they all leave on two coupled boats and descend the Ohio towards Shawneetown. Travelling on the Ohio is not without danger! The river is full with obstacles and once under way they won't have to count on much assistance. They float through impenetrable forests. From time to time De Smet spots a group of huts, but most of the time there is not a human being in sight. The flatboats passes small hamlets which soon will become important cities, such as Cincinnati, Louisville and Madison. At Louisville it is necessary to organize a portage to circumvent the falls of Ohio. During the transport of their luggage they have a short meeting with an old acquaintance. It is the Father Neirinckx Father who accompanies a group of Sisters of Loretto on their way to Missouri. Meanwhile a local pilot, assisted by Josse Van Assche, steers the two boats through the difficult rapids of Ohio. When moored in Portland, the boats can be reloaded. They take to the river again and on May 22 Shawneetown comes in sight. The waterway to St. Louis is not very long, but towing the flatboats against the current of the powerful Mississippi is an impossible task for them. They sell the boats and with the revenue they pay the transport of their cargo to St. Louis. The party will walk the remaining 150 miles. It is a difficult hike through the south of Illinois where the roads and fields are flooded this time of the year. After eight days however they are finally in the sight of the city with at confluence of Missouri and the Mississippi. The next day the will cross the Mississippi. After a good nights rest they are on western bank of the river. Late in the evening they enter the city near Morgan Street. St. Louis with its 5000 French speaking inhabitants is still a very Latin city.

The last 15 miles! On June the 3rd 1823 they finally reach their destination. The voyage almost lasted two months and the had to walk 400 miles ! They reach St. Ferdinand de Florissant, a small village between St. Charles and St. Louis, close to the mouth of Missouri. On the property De Smet can see some buildings. Among them are the convent of the Sisters of the Sacred Heart and the parish church. Their own convent and their school will be built on one of the hills.
﻿





1823 - 1833 : Florissant and St. Louis


1823 

The area around Florissant is fertile an offers a lot of resources for St. Louis. The soil is excellent and there is wood and water in abundance. But for the European boys life on the frontier is hard and primitive. Without harvest the Jesuits have no income. Mother Duchesne and the other Sisters of the Sacred Heart help their neighbours as much as possible. However after a few months two young boys decide to quit. In these primitive circumstances and without books Charles Van Quickenborne and Pierre Verhaegen do all that they can to transfer the essential knowledge to their students. 

1824 

On May the 31st Pierre Timmermans (35) dies of exhaustion. After a last visit to his young recruits Charles Nerinckx also passes away in Sainte-Geneviève. He is 63. In Florissant Van Quickenborne is now completely on his own. He combines the tasks of superior, professor and confessor for the students, for the Sisters, and for a number of distant parishes. He urgently needs reinforcement! .

In addition to his numerous tasks Van Quickenborne operates a small school for young Indian boys in Florissant. The St. Francis-Régis seminar mainly attracts children of the Osages Indians. De Smet is allowed to teach them and while doing so he becomes well acquainted with the first inhabitants of the North-American continent. The youngest children learn how to write and speak English. The older ones are taught the basics of agriculture. But to pass their life tilling the soil is not very appealing for these young hunters. Moreover the majority of the Jesuits show little or no interest for the Indian culture. In their opinion these redskins are lazy, unreliable and dirty creatures. De Smet's judgement is less negative and he shows more empathy for the natives and their children. In turn the Sisters open a school for young Indian girls. Their dream is to build a better future for the educated Indians.

1825 

Finally reinforcement arrives when Theodore de Theux de Meylandt (36), a recruit of Neirinckx in 1816, is sent to Florissant. For 8 years he held classes at the university of Georgetown, Maryland. When he arrives in October the quality of the instruction clearly improves. 

1826 

Jean-baptiste Smedts and Pierre Verhaegen are the first to be ordained. In his spare time De Smet collects all sorts of species of plants and animals to send to his correspondents in Europe. 

1827 

On February the 15th, in the distant Kingdom of the Netherlands, Joost de Smet passes away. It takes a long time for the bad news to reach Florissant, and in the meantime Pieter Jan continues to send letters to his old father.

The Jesuits made plans to alienate the converted Indian pupils from the traditional tribal life and to encourage them to copy white ways and white family life. They hoped that in doing so a permanent native Christian community would become possible in Missouri. The plan has the blessing of John-Philip Roothaan, superior of the Jesuits in Rome, and the approval of president Jackson. But the plan fails because Florissant has insufficient means. In fact there is not enough money to buy land for the new Indian community (sic). The number of pupils decreases every day. Osages are nomads and when they are forced to give up their traditional hunting grounds in Missouri they collect their offspring before relocating to Kansas. 

September 23 is an important date: Jean Elet, Josse Van Assche, Felix Verreydt and Pieter Jan De Smet are ordained priests in the St. Stanislaus church in Florissant. From now on Pieter Jan can call himself Father Peter John De Smet, S.J.. He celebrates mass in a number of small communities, some at a distance of 150 miles. Sometimes a barn or a cabin can be transformed into a makeshift church, but very often the mass must be officiated in the open air. The catholic communities are far distant from each other and the journeys are no pick-nick. Navigating on dangerous rivers and spending cold nights under a starry sky, it is all part of their religious mission. On the eve of the Louisiana Purchase St. Louis was a predominantly catholic city, but subsequent immigration waves from the United States brings more and more Protestants to the traditional French city. The arrival of Methodists, Quakers, Anabaptists and Presbyterians means competition for Catholicism, and measures are urgently needed to stem the tide. Youth is the future and for this reason much emphasis will be put on the development of sound catholic education. To promote higher catholic education the superiors of Louisiana, Dubourg and Rosati, offer the Jesuits of St. Louis a patch of land. The Jesuits came to convert the Indians, but they want to help the Catholics of St. Louis and so they agree to start a college in St. Louis. A collection is organized and soon Father Verhaegen is able to initiate the construction of the necessary buildings. Less than one year later, on November the 2nd to be precise, the college can open its gates. On the opening day the boarding school counts a total of 40 pupils. Three months later they are 100. Most of these boys are Protestant and not all of them live in St. Louis. In October Van Quickenborne takes charge of the new college where De Smet teaches religion, English language and agriculture. From now on Catholicism is well established in these parts of the United States. The Protestants are not very happy with this development and the competition between the two beliefs will increase. 

1829

The well-to-do community of St. Charles, 10 miles to the north of St. Louis, is an important catholic city. Charles de la Croix ( 38) from St.-Cornelius-Hoorebeke in East-Flanders, Belgium, administers their parish. At the beginning of the century de la Croix was kidnapped in a seminary by the French administration and enlisted in the army of Napoleon. In 1817 de la Croix emigrated to the United States with Dubourg. But now de la Croix urgently requests to be relieved from his heavy duties on the frontier and as a result Van Quickenborne and his assistants inherit his labours in St. Charles, St. Ferdinand, Dardenne, Hancock Prairie and Portage des Sioux

1830

There never were more than 40 boys in the Indian school of Florissant, and when their parents are forced to leave Missouri the school slowly emptied. Finally, with great regret for De Smet, it is closed. The college of St. Louis with its 150 students on the contrary is a growing succes and De Smet is given new responsibilities. He is appointed as procurator, prefect of studies and English professor. 

1831

Roothaan decides to split the Jesuit provinces of Maryland and Missouri. From now on Missouri will have to fend for its own. The Superintendent of Indian Affairs, the famous explorer William Clark, as well as Father Van Quickenborne defend the idea that missions must follow the Indians to the west. Van Quickenborne means business, and he leaves de Theux in charge of St. Louis. He moves to Kansas with Van de Velde (one of Neirinckx's recruits in 1817 and the future bishop of Natchez) to establish a new Indian mission.

1832

The state of Missouri grants to the college of St. Louis the status of university with faculties of letters, science, medicine, law and theology. From now on the college, which has been created in 1818 by bishop Dubourg, must offer academic quality education, and the responsibility for the new university weighs heavy on the shoulders of the Missouri province. De Smet teaches English. The year 1832 is also remembered for its disasters. A tornado devastates a large part of the city and the college narrowly escapes from total destruction. And then a cholera epidemic strikes hard, making another 200 victims. The situation is so serious that the college is forced to close for three months. The Province urgently needs more means and more missionaries! 

1833 

By now 7,500 people live in St. Louis. The sixteen Jesuits can't keep up with the requirements of the Missouri province, nor with the work in St. Louis. Moreover the province has serious financial problems. Many Missouri Jesuits were born in Holland and Belgium and most of them like the idea of joining efforts with the new Belgian Jesuit province. De Smet offers to go to Europe to defend this idea and to seek help. Furthermore, ten years of deprivations on the frontiers have seriously affected the missionary's health. He urgently needs some rest. At the end of the month September, after a speedy naturalization procedure, he leaves St. Louis as an American citizen on his way to Georgetown en route for Europe.
﻿





1834 - 1836 : Back home


1834

At the beginning of January the sailing vessel reaches the European continent. After disembarking in Le Havre De Smet travels as quickly as possible to the recently created independent kingdom of Belgium. And there, on January 6, he has a discussion with the local provincial, Father Van Lil. Two days later he can at last visit his parents home in Dendermonde. What a strange feeling to enter the house of his childhood after an absence of almost 14 years! A lot of changes have taken place since he last left home. The armchair of his father is empty. His elder sister Rosalie, to which had fallen the role of mother for the young people, is married with Charles Van Mossevelde, and his brothers Charles and François work as judges (3).
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8. Portrait of Father De Smet (coll. P. de Smet)
De Smet visits the parents of the Jesuits who remained in St. Louis. Then he contacts many benefactors, such as Pierre de Nef of Turnhout (a wine merchant and textile manufacturer), the archbishop of Mechelen, De Ram (vice-president of the catholic university of Leuven), bishop Van Bommel and Madame de Theux. He visits Namur, Mons, Tournai and Brussels. In Enghien a local priest puts him on the track of a very valuable library of the Augustin monks. He acquires it for the university of St. Louis. He travels to Erps-Kwerps, Aarschot, Scherpenheuvel, Diest, Zandhoven and Antwerp. Everywhere he manages to secure some funding for his mission in the U.S. He goes to Lille, Arras and Amiens. In France he buys a complete laboratory and an important mineral collection. He re-enters Belgium via Kortrijk and pays a second visit to Van Lil. They re-examine the merger plans of the two provinces. The young Belgian province with its 150 Jesuits thinks the proposition to join with Missouri is a bit ambitious. In the meantime De Neve, who sponsors catholic education and even operates a catholic school, convinced 5 recruits to join the missionaries in Missouri. Among the candidates are Pierre Verheyden, of Dendermonde, and Charles Huet, of Kortrijk. During this stay in Belgium a painting of Father De Smet is made. Today this painting of the missionary can be seen in the museum of the city of Dendermonde. Nine months of fundraising results in 60,000 dollars.

After the summer its is time for Father De Smet to return to his home in the new world, but his activity in Europe did not allow him to fully regain his forces. In October he leaves for Antwerp to prepare his crossing. He carries 50 cases with clothing, liturgical hardware, paintings, books, instruments and other scientific equipment. After his 10 month stay De Smet dreads the moment when he will have to leave his beloved relatives once more. Again he thinks it best to leave quietly without informing them.

October 30 he writes a last letter to his brothers and sisters and two days later, on November the first, he leaves Antwerp with his new recruits and his invaluable cargo on the brig Agenoria, destination North America. November 3 they reach Vlissingen where they enter the North Sea and the English Channel. But off the Kentish coast the ship runs into a violent storm and De Smet becomes very seasick. In the end he has to be put ashore not far from Deal. The nauseas are so violent that he suffers serious internal bleedings. His life is in danger! Two doctors take turns to care for him day and night. The captain of the Agenoria waits two days for his recovery, but when the doctors give to understand that his cure will at least take a fortnight, he decides to sail on. All the recruits can do is to leave without their companion and continue under the guidance of Verheyden. Off the coast of Newfoundland the Agenoria loses a whole month because of unfavourable wind conditions. But on December 23 the ship and its precious cargo arrive safe and sound in New York harbour.

As soon as De Smet can be transported, he takes up lodgings in a nearby village in order to reduce the cost of living. On November 11 he is able to walk again and three days later he travels to London where he is the guest of Rev. Jean Nerinckx, brother of Charles Nerinckx. The English doctors advise De Smet to give up his hard and difficult life on the border of civilisation. Peter John is convinced that his life is a failure. He is depressed, but Nerinckx manages to revive his optimism. On November 24 he is ready to leave for Belgium. He arrives in Dendermonde. His Belgian doctors impose him a long convalescence. De Smet feels very insecure because of his weak performance and asks his superior, Johan-Philip Roothaan, to accept his resignation.

1835

At the end of March Roothaan confirms his resignation. De Smet considers becoming a secular priest, but as a trained missionary he lacks the temperament for everyday parochial work. His future seems uncertain and he feels miserable. The bishop of Ghent puts him in charge of the financial affairs of an orphanage. He is also confessor of the Carmelite nuns in Brussels and Dendermonde. The nuns of Dendermonde hope re-establish their convent in the city of Aalst. Their convent was dissolved during the reign of the Austrian emperor Joseph II. De Smet wants to help them and with the assistance of Father De Vos he selects an appropriate building. Finally they are able to purchase a disused convent and as a result the convent of Carmel can be restored in Aalst on August 2, 1836. 

De Smet continues to correspond with the missionaries of Missouri. He carries on fundraising for the mission on the frontier and serves as a go between for the Jesuits of Missouri in their effort to communicate with their colleagues of the Belgian province. Verhaegen, who succeeded de Theux as provincial, did not lose the hope to merge the two provinces. De Neve continues to motivate young students to opt for the missionary work in North America. On September 23 De Smet accompanies seven of these boys to the harbour of Antwerp where they will board a ship bound for the United States. De Smet corresponds with the seminaries of Baarle-Hertog and Breda and occasionally he talks to the young pupils who plan to leave for the United States. 

1836 

De Smet feels a lot better and he longs to return to his Jesuit province in Missouri. He kindly requests Roothaan to be re-admitted to the Jesuit Order. Roothaan grants this permission on an exceptional basis, not in the least because the Jesuits in St. Louis are once more in dire straits. To keep up with the growing demands they urgently need more missionaries. The pope bestowed on these Jesuits the responsibility for all the missionary stations west of the Mississippi and in northern Mexico. 

So secretly, without informing his family, De Smet prepares his departure. This time he will try to sail with four missionaries from Le Havre to the United States. One of the recruits is Arnold Damen. On the way De Smet becomes very ill. A strong fever keeps him an extra week in Paris. As soon as the fever drops, the small group leaves for Le Havre. On arrival his fever suddenly flares up and when the time has come to board the ship, De Smet has to make a tough decision. His four young recruits will have to cross the ocean without him. The ship leaves Le Havre. But it is now or never and, in extremis, De Smet makes a last effort to fulfil his dream and join his destiny. He asks the skipper of a small boat to try to catch up with the large sailing vessel. The attempt succeeds and he can climb aboard. His luck holds. His health improves every day of the ocean crossing and the much dreaded sea sickness remains absent 

At the end of October, precisely one month after their departure on September 26, the approaches of New York are sighted. Three weeks later Peter John De Smet re-enters the noviciate of Florissant and on November 29 he is once more admitted to the Jesuits Order by the provincial of Missouri, Father Verhaegen.

(3) Both Charles and François married in 1828. Charles worked as a magistrate in Dendermonde. In 1834 he most probably still lived in the "Witte Hert". François, who started his judicial career in Dendermonde, moved to Ghent in 1830 when offered a commission there.
﻿





1837 - 1839 : At the Potawatomi


1837

During De Smet's four-year absence St. Louis has grown considerably. The number of inhabitants has doubled (15,000) and the French and Spanish colonists are no longer in the majority. 6,000 German immigrants, for example, made themselves a new home in an around the ever expanding city. 

The university of St. Louis has become is a great success. This must be attributed to the expert direction of Father Elet and the relentless efforts of the many capable teachers, such as Father Vandevelde. The library of the university offers thousands of books. The Belgian financial aid gave the parishes of Florissant and St. Charles the much-needed relief. On the walls of the noviciate several Flemish masters remind the students of the bond between the Netherlands and the Missouri province with its 61 Jesuits. 

The American Congress voted a plan to relocate the remaining 200,000 eastern Indians. They will receive new "homelands" west of the Mississippi. At the same time Rome authorized the missions to stay with the deported Indians. Father Van Quickenborne was the first to move to the Iowas and Osages. Last year Father Christian Hoecken with three brothers settled near the Kickapoos in the north of Kansas. It's a life of hardship and privation. When the health of Father Van Quickenborne fails, and he is brought to Portage-des-Sioux near Florissant, where he expires on August the 17th. Father Verreydt joins Christian Hoecken to help out at the Kickapoo mission. The opinion of most Jesuits on the Indian character remains negative. They can't be trusted and are rebellious, they beg and rob whenever the can, they are lazy and addicted to alcohol. The grim feeling is reciprocal. The Indians distrust the missionaries. One year later the Kickapoos turn their backs on the mission and follow the example of the Prairie Indians. From now on they will hunt buffalo and roam freely on the seemingly endless prairie.

Despite this setback, the Jesuits of Missouri don't want to give up. They soon decide to install a second mission near the mouth of the Nebraska. A great number of Potawatomi Indians were relocated in this area after being forced to give up their homelands near Chicago, Michigan. They were allocated a new homeland on the banks of the Missouri, not far from the mouth from the Nebraska or Platte River. Their principal settlement is near Council Bluffs (opposite modern Omaha City). For some time now these Potawatomis ask for the assistance of a catholic priest. During the summer months Father Verreydt and Brother Mazelli visit them to examine the possibility to start a mission on their premises. 

1838

On January 26th De Smet writes a letter showing his eagerness to be selected for this adventurous mission. Father Verhaegen gives in to his arguments and on May the 2nd De Smet travels up the Missouri on board the Howard. On the 10th of May 10 he joins with Father Felix Verreydt and the Brother John Mazelli at Fort Leavenworth. The Howard has all kinds of technical problems and the passengers change over to the Wilmington. The Missouri is a difficult river to navigate. It is full of obstacles, small islands or sandbanks, and its waters can be very shallow. The riverbanks are mostly deserted. The river runs at the foot of high cliffs, dotted with dark caves, through thick forests and endless grasslands, called "la prairie" by the French. The current is strong. To make way a boat must have sufficient draught and push its power to the limit. This form of transport is not without danger. The ship could sink in no time when it impaled on an invisible obstacle in the shallow and murky waters of the Missouri and the risk of an exploding boiler is real. Father De Smet visits the local tribes, such as Iowas, Sauks and Otos, whenever the boat stops to refuel (load logs).
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9. 1838 St Louis - Concil Bluffs (for full map see Laveille's biography)
The whole trip takes 29 days. They disembark on the banks of lake Manawa, a secondary channel of the Missouri River, where they are met by 2000 Indians with much indifference. Their chief William (Billy) Caldwell, a half-bred of Irish ascent, welcomes the missionaries and offers to them three huts in the vicinity of his camp, four miles further north. De Smet and his companions accept the invitation. The previous year one of these huts was occupied by colonel Stephen Watts Kearny. His task was to protect these relocated tribes originating from Indiana and Illinois, from the their neighbours : the fierce Sioux Indians. The territory where these Potawatomis are forced to re-establish themselves is situated in the west of Iowa. It is the hunting ground of the Sioux, and they dislike all intruders.
 
A log hut is built to be used as the mission church. More huts are built next to the "St. Joseph church". Very soon De Smet notices that Potawatomis have some serious weaknesses. They are rather lazy, live with several women, love to gamble and are addicted to alcohol. De Smet puts his criticism on paper and addresses his complaints to the American government, but his Jesuit superiors tone down plea against the trade of alcohol. Hundreds of Indians become sick. They do not have any defence against the most common Europeans diseases. When there is an epidemic the number of victims is enormous. Each year the Indian population is decimated. De Smet believes that their hygienic condition is the principal cause of this sad state of affairs. He starts a small school and soon about thirty children attend the lessons regularly. Other tribes, such as the Pawnees-Loups and Omahas visit the mission. They are surrounded by the "American desert". During the winter months the missionaries must use their weapons to protect themselves from aggressive and famished animals, such as bears and wolves. 

(the mission stood approx. on the corner of today's Pierce and Union streets in Council Bluffs.) 

1839

After the harsh winter months, when the ice on the river has broken, steamships can once more use the Missouri. On April the 20th a supply ship reaches the mission. But the vessel hits an obstacle and sinks before the eyes of De Smet. In the event 1000 dollars of cargo is lost. A saw, a plough, a pair of boots and a little wine, it is all that De Smet can recover. 

The Potawatomis are regularly threatened by other Indians. Apparently Otos, Pawnees and Sioux collect their scalps. The dreaded Sioux make the most victims among Potawatomis. Bill Caldwell supports De Smet's initiative to pay their worst enemy, the Yankton Sioux, a visit. He leaves on the St-Peter, a packet ship of the American Fur Company bound for the mouth of the Vermillon River. On board he becomes acquainted with the explorers Joseph Nicollet and John Frémont, and also with the German botanist, Charles Geyer. Because of shallow water, strong head winds, sand banks and other obstacles, the trip to the mouth of Vermilion takes 12 days. 
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10. 1839 St Joseph - Yankton - St Joseph
The Yankton Sioux politely listen to De Smet's message. It pleads for the safety of his Potawatomis and in the end the Yanktons accept his peace proposals. As a token of their friendship, the Yanktons safely return De Smet to Council Bluffs on a canoe with two of their braves. But upon arrival De Smet is confronted with a depressing situation. During his absence more than one hundred murders have been committed in the Potawatomi community! The cause of this disaster is the cursed "firewater", sold to them by unscrupulous white traders. In August De Smet looses heart and considers closing the mission. 

On September 18 arrives the fourth and last delegation of the Flathead Indians near the Potawatomi mission. Ignace La Mousse and Pierre Gaucher, two catholic Flatheads, canoed all the way down the Missouri on their way from the Rocky Mountains towards St. Louis to ask for a permanent Black Robe. De Smet entrusts to them a letter for the Father Verhaegen. 

This time Rosati and Verhaegen promise to send a missionary to the Flatheads. Pierre Gaucher will immediately return to the Rockies to carry the good news to the Flatheads and Ignace La Mousse will spend the rest of the winter at the Kickapoo mission in Kansas. Next spring Ignace will guide the promised missionary to his tribe in West. Gaucher proposes to meet the promised Jesuit missionary and Ignace by the end of June at the rendezvous area on the Green River. The rendezvous is an annual event organised and attended by trappers, tradesmen and Indians.
﻿





1840 - 1840 : Rendezvous with the Flathead


1840

De Smet stamps with impatience. He resolves to travel as quickly as possible to St. Louis to confront his superiors with the depressing facts and to seek new provisions. In February he sets out for his winter trek through the desert with a single volunteer. On horseback they will try to cover the 700 miles towards St. Louis in a few days, a bold plan indeed. They manage to reach St. Louis unharmed. But De Smet's superior, Father Verhaegen is not willing to give up his St. Joseph mission, and he orders De Smet to return to his post as soon as possible. De Smet prepares for his return trip when Verhaegen changes his mind. Father Peter John De Smet, the stocky and heavy but sympathetic and gracious man of few words, will follow Ignace La Mousse to the Rocky Mountains and in the meantime Father Christian Hoecken will be put in charge of the St. Joseph mission (in September of the following year, Hoecken and Verreydt will transfer what remains of the original 2000 Potawatomis to the St. Mary mission near Sugar Creek in Kansas).

And his luck holds. He is allowed to travel with the caravan of the American Fur Company (AFC) on its annual trip to the mountain rendezvous on banks of the Green. De Smet meets his exotic travel companions on the quay of St. Louis. Some of them are seasoned hunters, such as Jim Bridger and Henry Fraeb. March 27 they set out for Westport (today Kansas City), a 400 mile journey on the Missouri River. In Westport our missionary joins young Ignace, who has spent the winter months at the Kickapoo mission. Together they must make the necessary arrangements to be able to leave with the caravan of Andrew Drips someday in April. De Smet purchases three horses and three mules. With the AFC caravan travel also a few Protestant missionaries with their respective woman and children (Harvey Clark, Alvin Smith and P. Littlejohn) and the first official emigrants to Oregon (Mr. and Mrs Joel P.Walker and their five children).

It is rather late in the month, April 30th to be precise, when Andrew Drips, captain of the AFC brigade, decides to jump off with his 50 travellers, 50 carriages and 60 loaded mules. During the first ten days the convoy makes but 16 miles a day. The heat is suffocating and De Smet doesn't feel very well. Soon his fever runs so high that sitting upright in the saddle becomes problematic. The only solution is to lie down on top of the sacks and bales of one of the carriages. The carts don't have suspension and De Smet's body is brutally shaken. May 18 the brigade reaches the river Nebraska or Platte. The watercourse did not steal its name. 2 miles wide, very shallow (1 to 7 feet) and strewn with islands and sand banks, the Platte is barely navigable. But on its banks fauna and flora are very rich. The waterside abounds with bison and other animals. During a whole month the party travels west along this beautiful river bank and as the ground goes up, the climate becomes more bearable. Near the Grand Island of the North Platte our missionary starts to recover (but he will continue to feel feverish until September). On the 4th of June the brigade crosses the Laramie River. There De Smet meets a small group of Northern Cheyenne Indians. The travellers carry on along the banks of the North Platte, passing by Red Butte, the Sweetwater River and Independence Rock. De Smet calls this rock: the great register of the desert because many westbound travellers engrave their name in the tender stone of the rock. Twenty days will be needed to reach South Pass and the continental divide. On June 26 it starts to snow ! Four days later the caravan reaches the Green River at the mouth of Horse Creek. The Green River is an affluent of the powerful Colorado River which runs southwards through the Grand Canyon to empty itself into the Pacific Ocean. 

As agreed Pierre Gaucher awaits the missionary on bank of the Green River. He brought an escort of 9 young warriors. To reach the agreed meeting place, the Flathead delegation had to fend off their worst enemies, the Blackfeet. De Smet and the Flathead delegation will have to watch their step. The Flathead base camp is in Pierre's Hole. De Smet asks his escort to allow for a few days rest near the rendezvous campsite. During the interval De Smet gets acquainted to the peculiar community of mountain men. He also converses with other Indians present: Shoshones (Snakes), as well as Utes and Paiutes. 

And then an incredible event occurs. In this godforsaken place De Smet unexpectedly meets a compatriot. It is Jean-Baptiste De Velder from Ghent, who spent thirty years in North America and almost completely forgot its native tongue. Jean-Baptiste, formerly a "grenadier" in the army of Napoleon, was made prisoner in Spain by the troops of Wellington and shipped to an English colony. Somehow he managed to escape to an American vessel and enter the United States. For 14 years he worked as a trapper in the Rocky Mountains. He knows this region and its inhabitants better than whoever and spontaneously offers his services as a guide and interpreter to the missionary. Needless to say, De Smet immediately accepts this godsend proposal.
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11. Horse Creek on the Green River (Daniel, Wyoming - own photo).
On July the 5th De Smet celebrates the first Sunday mass in the Rockies. He preaches for the Indians and the trappers in a place which thereafter will be called the prairie of the Holy Sacrament. Time has come to go to the base camp of the Flatheads. With De Velder, ten Flatheads and ten French-Canadian trappers he sets out in north-westerly direction. The party travels through a small valley, Jackson's Little Hole, and crosses a range of lofty snow-covered mountains, to reach Jackson's Hole and the Snake River. They have to cross this swift river using so called bull boats. In southernmost part of the Tetons they follow a pass which brings them to the terminus of the voyage: Pierre's Hole. It is a valley of 25 miles at the foot of the impressive Teton mountains. Approximately thousand Flathead, Pend d'Oreille and Nez Percé Indians camp in this valley. This large number of natives travelled 180 miles to meet their promised missionary. The chief of the Flatheads, Big Face, welcomes Father De Smet with great enthusiasm. During four days the missionary preaches and instructs them. At last they have their own Black Robe. 

On July the 16th the camp is broken down and the whole village travels northwards to the headwaters of the Missouri. For three weeks they cover approximately 10 miles a day. The trail starts near Henry's Fork on the Snake River, crosses the continental divide between Henry's lake and Red Rock lake, close to Red Rock Creek. Then they continue along the Beaverhead (close to today's Dillon in Montana) towards the Jefferson River. The Jefferson is one of the three source rivers of the Missouri. August 6 they reach the area where the prairie and mountain Indians meet to hunt bison in an effort to build up enough food provisions for the coming winter months. In the next 17 days the Flatheads kill and process about 500 animals. On August the 23rd De Smet writes a letter to the Fathers Norbert Blanchet and Modeste Demers who run a catholic mission on the Willamette River, not far from Fort Vancouver. 
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12. 1840 St Louis-Rocky Mountains-St Louis
The Indians prepare to return to their homelands. In order to report to his superiors, De Smet has to try to return to St. Louis before the winter. He promises the Indians to return next spring with more missionaries. On August the 27th  De Smet and De Velder leave with an escort of twenty young warriors. They travel the trail William Clark followed on his homeward trip to the Yellowstone River. It is a vague path along the Galatin River, over the Bozeman pass and crossing the Yellowstone desert, with its endless plains and deep canyons. The trail runs through the country of the Crows and the hostile Blackfeet. At the confluence of the Yellowstone and the Bighorn they visit a large Crow village. From here they travel to Fort Alexander (AFC) on the Rosebud River. De Smet decides to dismiss his Flathead escort.

On September the 13th  De Smet and De Velder continue their trip, but they are not alone. Everywhere they encounter evidence of the presence of small groups of Blackfoot Indians. September 20 they reach the confluence of the Yellowstone and the Missouri. There they visit another AFC outpost : Fort Union. For three days they enjoy the hospitality of the master of the fort, James Kipp. He advises to them to descend the Missouri in a canoe. Autumn is fast approaching and they still need to travel more than 2000 miles! But as none of them has any canoeing skills, De Smet and De Velder prefer to continue on horseback. They know it will double their travel time. September 23 they leave with a group tradesmen en route for the country of the Aricara Indians. Three days later they meet a village of friendly Mandans and the Gros Ventres. After reaching Fort Clark the party is reduced to De Smet, De Velder and a Canadian. Their next stop is Fort Pierre, ten days east. Five days later they enter Sioux country. It doesn't take long for them to intercept the intruders. The Canadian informs the Sioux that one of the intruders is a French Black Robe". For these Indians it is the first time that they meet somebody who is familiar with the Great Spirit. Their aggressiveness makes place for exuberant joy and De Smet is transported in the village on a buffalo robe. De Smet's party will be escorted by three Sioux warriors to Fort Pierre. From there they travel to the next fort : Fort Vermillion. There De Smet learns of new hostilities between Yankton Sioux and Potawatomis. November 10 they meet a solitary Iroquois in the canoe. They will travel with him in his canoe to Council Bluffs. It is mid-November, and ice patches start to appear on the Missouri River. The river is completely frozen, when they reach Council Bluffs ten days later. Happily they can rest a while in the St. Joseph mission, run by Christian Hoecken and Felix Verreydt. The number of Potawatomi families living near the mission is reduced to 50. (Here De Velder disappears from De Smet's letters, but it is most probable that he travelled with Father De Smet to St. Louis.) 

On December the 14th, after three weeks of rest, De Smet sets out on horseback to Westport where he arrives on the 22th . In this outpost live 23 families, mostly retiring Iroquois and French-Canadian trappers with their Indian wives and children. Father Nicolas Point arrived in Westport on the 1st of November. Point, a French Jesuit born in Rocroi, is an architect and draughtsman. His mission is to prepare De Smet's second voyage to the Rocky Mountans. In the meantime he built a small church for the local community in Westport. Father De Smet travels with the postal diligence from Independence to St. Louis. On New Year's day he steps through the gate of St. Louis University. He has been absent for nine months or 279 days and travelled more than 4300 miles. He immediately goes to Philadephia in order to plead for a permanent mission in the Rockies and to raise some funding.

In the meantime 154 Jesuits are active in Missouri. Sixteen of them were born in the USA. Furthermore there are 45 Irishmen, 42 Belgians, 16 Dutchman, 13 Germans, 11 Italians, 9 French and 2 Spaniards. 
﻿





1841 - 1842 : A reduction in the Rocky Mountains ?


1841 

Verhaegen approves the establishment of a permanent mission in the Rocky Mountains under the direction of Father De Smet. But what about the funding ? No problem. De Smet prints a few thousand pamphlets and organizes a successful collection in Louisiana. His trip to New Orleans alone yields 1100 dollars! Part of the collected money will be set aside for the unfortunate Potawatomi Indians (to be relocated once more), a sum will be offered to the school for Indian girls of Madame Duschene, and with the remainder Peter John is able to start his reduction in the Rockies.

On April 24 De Smet leaves St. Louis for Westport on the Oceana. His travel companions are Father Gregorio Mengarini, Brother Charles Huet, Brother Joseph Specht and Brother Willem Claessens. Mengarini is an Italian. He is a linguist and a musician. Huet (Kortrijk) and Claessens (Berendrecht) are both Belgians. Claessens is a carpenter. Specht is a blacksmith from the Alsace region in Germany. The water level of the Missouri River is low and the Oceana is forced to navigate carefully. It takes the steamer seven days to reach Westport. Upon arrival De Smet and his companions join Father Nicolas Point. They immediately start making arrangements for the long, tiring and perilous voyage. They purchase six carts with the necessary mules and horses. However, this time the Jesuits cannot travel with the caravan of the American Fur Company. The fur trade is declining and the annual rendezvous system has been abandoned. By a stroke of good fortune the missionaries meet an unemployed mountain man who agrees to guide their little party to the Green River. His name is Thomas Fitzpatrick (42). Fitzpatrick hires more experienced Franco-Canadian trappers such as John Gray (Ignace Hatchiorauquacha) to accompany the missionaries. 

May 10 the missionaries and their guides are ready to start their long westward trek. On horseback they guide five two-wheel carriages, each drawn by a pair of mules, on an unmarked road to the great adventure behind the horizon. But the small caravan is not alone. This year a number of emigrants plan to reach Oregon and California over land. All their vehicles regroup on the banks of the Kaw River at present day Topeka, Kansas. Confronted with this first obstacle they decide to cooperate. A convoy of wagons is organised, leaders are appointed and rules are laid down. The 70 adults and children of the Western Emigration Society, headed by John Bidwell (21), will be the backbone of the group, but for most of them it is their first important overland trip. John Bartleson is chosen as the leader of the emigrants and consequently this caravan will also be called the Bartleson-Bidwell party. But everybody agrees that the experienced mountain man and guide of the Jesuit party, Thomas Fitzpatrick, should also be chosen as the guide of this important train of 25 carriages. Two days later a small group of five people headed by Joseph B Chiles catches up with the westbound party. May 27 they are joined by Joseph Williams, a protestant preacher apparently travelling on his own to Oregon. The leaders of the caravan require the emigrants to observe an almost military discipline. Orders must be obeyed - to wake-up, to leave, to halt, to take meals, to set-up camp, to sleep and to keep watch. After sunset the campsite is very vulnerable and the unbroken circle of carriages must guarded all night, also by the otherwise peaceful missionaries. During the whole trip there is but one casualty, due to an accidental, but fatal shot. Two couples are married and the Jesuits say mass in their tent. The missionaries increasingly admire the knowledge and know-how of the mountain men who serve as their guides. On this trip Father De Smet and Thomas Fitzpatrick start a lifelong friendship. 

The emigrants are among the first travellers on Oregon Trail. Between the Kaw and the Big Blue River (1) an isolated member of the party is suddenly surrounded by a significant number of Indians. These Cheyennes disarm Nicholas Dawson and send him away. Fitzpatrick and Gray stay calm and the Native Americans remain friendly. They even return Dawsons belongings. Near the South Platte they meet a very large number of bison. The frightened animals stampede and the moving herd threatens to reverse the carriages and to trample the emigrants. Shooting a few bison does the trick. The course of the racing animals is altered and a potentially dangerous situation reversed. The following days bison becomes a fixed item on the menu. The temperature is very high. On one of these torrid days the emigrants are caught up by a violent hurricane and they all but escape from the destructive forces of a waterspout. Near Lower California Crossing (today Brule, Nebraska) they cross the South Platte. Then the caravan follows the southern bank of the North Platte River, along Chimney Rock and Scott' S Bluff. On June 22 they reach Fort Laramie. After a short pause the party resumes their westward course. Near the site of todays city of Casper (Wyoming) they have to cross the North Platte. The river is so deep that the horses and the mules have to swim. In the swift current a wagon is reversed and as a result a mule drowns. They travel on the banks of the Sweetwater River and visit Independence Rock. Then they reach South Pass and on July 24 they can take a break on the banks of the Green River.

This year the traditional rendezvous area looks very empty and quiet. A few remaining trappers (Henry Fraeb being one of them) and a small group of returning emigrants are the only people to welcome the weary travellers. A young Flathead awaits De Smet and his missionaries. Its Ignaces son, François-Xavier. The missionaries continue their voyage with the Bartleson-Bidwell party in the direction of Ham's Fork. At Soda Springs on the Beaver River, the emigrant party decides to split. Bidwell with the principal group will stick to the original plan to travel southwest to California. The others 32 emigrants will carry on with Fitzpatrick and the missionaries. They will eventually continue northwest to Oregon. De Smet and François-Xavier hurry ahead to Fort Hall  (Hudson's Bay Company) on the Snake River. When De Smet arrives in the fort on August the 15th, he realises that he left St. Louis 115 days ago. The missionary and his Indian guide are very much welcomed by Francis Ermatinger, the master of the fort. Two days later the rest of the emigrants and the other Jesuits also reach Fort Hall. In the meantime the main body of Smets Indian escort arrived. These Flathead warriors are led by a man called the Bravest-of-the-Brave. On August 20 bad news reaches the fort. En route to California the Bidwell party has been attacked by hostile Indians! De Smet writes a letter to John Mc Loughlin who lives at Fort Vancouver. He is the boss of the Hudson's Bay Company in the vast territory of Oregon. Ermatinger will guide the remaining emigrant party to Fort Vancouver and deliver De Smets letter personally.
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13. 1841 St Louis-St Mary 
The missionaries leave with their escort towards Henry's Fork on the Snake River. En route they suddenly encounter 50 Blackfoot Indians of the Bannocks tribe. Conflict is avoided when the Flatheads explain that the sole purpose of their sortie is to escort the Black Robe to his final destination. Above lake Henry they cross the continental divide to travel west, to the Beaverhead. On August 30, in a sheltered valley, they meet Big Face with the same the group of Flatheads Father De Smet visited last year. In September the whole Indian village moves via Hell Gate (today near Missoula, Montana) to the valley of the Bitterroot. September 29 they erect a cross in an elevated spot near todays Stevensville, Montana (30 miles north of Missoula). This symbolic gesture marks the creation of the first Jesuit Rocky Mountain Mission: St. Marys. De Smet plans to create a series of Indian missions, based on the 17th century reduction model of Paraguay. In the neighbourhood of St. Mary other families set up their winter camp. Among them are Pend dOreille, Nez Percé, Kalispel, Kootenai and Coeur dAlene bands, even some Blackfoot families.

October 28 De Smet leaves with ten Flathead braves towards Fort Colville (Hudson's Bay Company). The fort is approximately 125 miles to the north, on the Columbia River, just above the Kettle Falls. The purpose of this trip is to buy some extra provisions. In order to start the reduction the Jesuits urgently need more food, clothing, sowing-seed, tools, agricultural implements, cattle and other working animals. On his way Father De Smet visits a Kalispel village. The trail skirts the Bitterroot and Clark Fork. On Sunday November 7, while resting in the Kalispel camp, eight Indians in two canoes emerge from the lake. One of them is Charles, the Flathead interpreter he used last year. Charles is now employed by the Hudson's Bay Company. His little party brings a message from doctor Mc Loughlin. The letter dating from the end of September, contains also an invitation to visit the doctor at Fort Vancouver. Charles continues towards St. Mary and Father De Smet resumes his trip to Fort Colville. He stops in another Kalispel village and on November the 15th he reaches the fort. As usual he is made to feel very welcome by the local person in charge: Archibald Mc Donald. Near the fort Father De Smet becomes acquainted with some Franco-Canadians and a chief of the Kettles Indians. He can buy some of the much-needed provisions such as seeds, but there isnt any cattle for sale. De Smet and his escort retrace their steps using the same road. On December 8, 42 days later, Father De Smet returns safe and sound to his first mission post: St. Mary on the Bitterroot River.
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14. 1841 St Mary-Ft Colville
1842

Next spring Father De Smet decides act upon doctor Mc Loughlins invitation. April 13 he leaves for Fort Vancouver with Charles and three natives. He will be able to board a Hudsons Bay Company boat descending the Columbia River. But first he visits the Kootenai Indians on the St. Régis River, the Kalispels on the Pend Oreille River and the Coeur dAlene on the Spokane River. Near Fort Colville and the Kettle Falls, De Smet and Charles have to wait a whole month. The river is to rough and the water level has to drop considerably before they will be able to navigate. Finally on May 30 they can embark on a boat the Hudson`s Bay Company recently built for Peter Skene Ogden (explorer of the Snake River and the Great Basin). Two days later they reach a series of impressive rapids caused by large rock formations or dalles in the middle of the Columbia River. De Smet feels a bit insecure and asks to disembark. He prefers to climb the obstacles on the shore. Suddenly Ogdens boat is taken in a swirl. Engulfed by the powerful torrent its rapidly sinks. The boat reappears, but five people are missing. Charles is among the survivors. The survivors of this catastrophe pick up the pieces and De Smet and Ogden continue their voyage. Further downstream they stop at two forts of Hudson Bay Company, Fort Okanagan and Fort Walla-Walla. On June 8 they arrive safe and sound at Fort Vancouver. Father De Smet meets doctor Mc Loughlin and they immediately become friends. He also contacts Father Blanchet and Father Demers. They are both staying in the valley of the Willamette, 24 miles to the south, at St. Pauls mission to the French Canadian settlers. 
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15. 1842 St Mary-Ft Vancouver-St Mary
June 30 Father De Smet and his guide leave Fort Vancouver. Again they can travel on one of Ogdens boats. It takes them two weeks of sailing and rowing to reach Fort Walla-Walla. Here Charles shows Father Smet an alternate Indian trail to St. Marys. The path parallels the Snake River, crosses the Spokane desert as far as the southern point of the Coeur dAlene Lake. Then they travel along the banks of the St. Joe River. The St. Mary mission will be reached crossing the next mountain range. On July 27 Father Mengarini welcomes Fathers De Smet and Charles back to St. Marys. Mengarini is alone because Father Point joined the Flatheads on their seasonal hunt.

After five days of rest De Smet and Charles leave to join the hunting party. They follow the Bitterroot River until its source (Ross's Hole). After climbing the Gibbon pass, they follow the Big Hole River to the east to reach Three Forks via the Beaverhead. On August 15 they reach the Flahead hunters near the Jefferson and Madison Rivers. Point offers to start a mission among the Blackfoot Indians, but Father De Smet doesnt like the idea. The Blackfeet have a bad reputation. For the time being this venture seems far too dangerous. Point protests, but Father De Smet maintains his decision. Mengarini will take care of the Flathead and the Pend dOreille Indians. This will enable Point and Huet to install a new mission to the Coeur dAlenes.

Father De Smet decides to return as quickly as possible to the States. On August 25 he leaves with a small escort of ten warriors. Again the cross the Yellowstone desert on horseback. In the meantime Father De Smet has become more knowledgeable on the local situation. He knows how dangerous the area can be for a small group op travellers and he does not want to run any unnecessary risk. In three days they travel 150 miles. On the banks of Yellowstone they are made welcome in a fairly large camp of friendly Crows. De Smet dismisses his escort. He will continue with young Ignace-Gabriel (a Cree) and two Americans he met at the Crow village. They will need six days to reach Fort Union. Their route parallels the Yellowstone River. For some time this area is reputed to be a battleground for the various Assiniboin, Cheyenne, Blackfoot and Sioux tribes. On day they find the terribly mutilated bodies of ten massacred Assiniboins warriors. Struck with terror they hasten their travelling speed and continue the trip until late in the evening, without feeling the need to stop.
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16. 1842 St Mary-St Louis
However, on September 10 they arrive without any further incident at Fort Union. In the fort they can finally rest a few days in full safety. But the city of St. Louis is still very far away. To save time Father De Smet decides to try his luck at floating down the Missouri. He buys a canoe and Father De Smet and Ignace-Gabriel paddle a few days on the brown water of the powerful river the Americans call the Big Muddy". Three days later they meet the American Fur Company steamer Omega. The crew invites them to board the ship. They will first sail to Fort Union and then return to St. Louis. Father De Smet accepts this godsend offer with enthusiasm, not in the least because the banks of the Missouri are reported to be infested warlike Indians. Sailing the Omega is not without danger. In certain places the water is very shallow. The captain of the ship has to avoid the many sand banks, rocks and other lethal snags, such as the treacherous sawyers (hidden tree trunks). At one time one of the paddle wheels is severely damaged and another time a tornado reverses the cockpit. It could be called a miracle that the seriously damaged Omega manages to reach St. Louis 64 days later, on the last Sunday of October. But Father De Smet is unscathed and as he finished another successful round trip of 5000 miles, he hurries to St. Louis cathedral to thank his lord and taskmaster. 

In November the Fathers Point and Huet build their mission to the Coeur dAlenes on the Spokane River. This first mission is located not far from the northern end of the Coeur dAlene lake. One year later this Sacred Heart mission we will be moved by Father Point to drier location (one mile up the St. Joe River).


(1) There are several confusing reports of that incident, but that happened between the Kaw and Big Blue River, well before the caravan reached the Platte. Joseph Williams and Dawson really exagerated that story. "..about two weeks after heading out"  is what is claimed, and by following the sites mentioned in journals the trail,  I'm pretty sure the Indian fracas was near Rock Creek Crossing, at present day Westmoreland, Kansas. (Keith Jones)
﻿





1843 - 1844 : With the Infatigable to the Columbia


1843

On his return in St. Louis Father De Smet makes time to put his colourful adventures on paper. These letters are joined to become his first book: Letters 
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1845 - 1846 : In Search of the Blackfoot


1845

In February, the iron grip of winter on the Rockies weakens and De Smet and Hoecken can leave for St. Mary. After a trouble-free mountain journey of 16 days, they finally reach the mission where Fathers Mengarini and Zerbinati have been waiting for them for some time.

After Easter, Adriaan Hoecken is instructed to start a new reduction at the Kalispels: St. Ignatius. De Smet travels to Fort Vancouver to resupply the new mission. After 5 days the Columbia River delivers De Smet healthy and well to the fort. Father Nobili awaits him in the fort and together they go to the St.-Franciscus Xaverius mission on the Willamette River, where his young recruits Accolti, Ravalli, Vercruysse and De Vos still reside. Bishop Blanchet has asked Nobili to work with the Indians of New Caledonia (an area northeast of the present city of Vancouver, British Columbia).

[image:  ]

18. 1845 St Ignatius-St Mary-St Paul-Ft Colville
In June, De Smet will be ready to return with his purchases. Loaded with cargo, he travels through the Cascades with Ravalli and arrives in St. Ignatius in July with 11 beasts of burden. Ravalli becomes Hoecken's assistant in St. Ignatius.

De Smet sees to it that other mission posts are established : St. Paul near the falls of the Columbia (Kettle Falls) for the Kettle and Okanagan Indians and more to the north St. Peter of the Lakes. On August 4, De Smet leaves St. Paul for a place between St. Ignatius and Sacred Heart to start another reduction: St. Francis Regis (below Fort Colville). A number of trappers and their families want to settle there permanently. De Smet also visits the Flathead and the Kootenai Indians.

The feared Blackfoot Indians have been trying to drive their competitors, the Flathead Indians, out of their traditional hunting grounds for some time now. They do not fear the presence of the missionaries and regularly attack the Flathead Indians near the St. Mary mission. Due to the increasing aggression, De Smet finally decides to contact the infamous Blackfoot Indians. The agent of Fort Colville knows these dangerous people and tries to change De Smet's mind. Fathers Accolti and Nobili also consider it a dangerous undertaking, and Nobili knows what he is talking about, he has studied the habits of the Blackfoot and knows better than anyone the hostile attitude of this warlike tribe. He writes about it in a letter to Roothaan. But afterwards it turns out that De Smet has chosen the right moment: Blackfoot Indians lose their self-confidence and want to learn more about the supposed magic of the Black Robe.

On the eastern side of the Rocky Mountains, in the area of the upper Missouri, groups of Blackfoot Indians regularly roam. To contact them, simply travel east for a few days. De Smet deliberately does not do that because he wants to talk to the northern Blackfoot first. There is less chance that this group of Blackfoot Indians have had contact with the Flathead and therefore have no grievances against them.

After starting a new mission (Immaculate Heart of Mary), De Smet leaves for the north at the end of August with two Kootenai guides plus an Indian interpreter. He travels along the Clark Fork River and encounters Peter Skene Ogden again with two Hudson's Bay Company agents. Ogden has news for De Smet. The British Foreign Office wants the Columbia River as the US border in order to keep the Puget Sound and a large part of the current state of Washington in British hands. The Pudget Sound is a major strait with the first safe deep-water harbor north of San Francisco. Most American settlers settle in the fertile Willamette Valley, but some are already moving up the Cowlitz River, north of Fort Nisqually, to the southern shore of Puget Sound. Who will be quick enough to populate the area, the English or the Americans?

De Smet travels across the Selkirk Mountains (in northern Idaho) to the Kootenai River. On September 4, 40 miles north of the current Canada-U.S. border, (the 49th degree of latitude), De Smet leaves the Kootenai River and goes to the source of the Columbia: Lake Columbia. On September 15, he climbs over the top of the Rockies via the White Man Pass to the Bow River. At that place the guides notice traces of Indians. It is a branch of the Assiniboin Indians who mainly live in the forest. In De Smet's eyes they are primitive and dirty, but he still wants to get to know them better. He spends a week with them.
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19. 1845 Ft Colville - Source Columbia - Ft Edmonton
He then crosses the prairie and on October 4, De Smet reaches Rocky Mountain House, an 1805 Hudson's Bay Company trading post on the North Saskatchewan River. The boss of the establishment is J. E. Harriote, a Protestant. He tells De Smet that he expects a delegation of Blackfoot Indians at any moment. The HBC trades with the Blackfoot Indians. He also warns De Smet that they are a dangerous people. Hanging out with them is not without risk. De Smet realizes the danger and he sends back his small Indian escort. What De Smet does not know, however, is that there were regular heavy conflicts between the Blackfoot and the Flathead Indians last summer.

On October 25, 13 Blackfoot Indians suddenly appear near the trading post. They want to trade their pelts. After some talking back and forth, they agree to meet the Black Robe. After some discussion, the chief invites De Smet to come to his camp to instruct them about the Creator of Life. The Blackfoot Indians have had a difficult year, some of them contracted a mysterious disease (smallpox) and died. Many of their horses have been stolen, and they have also been beaten up by other tribes such as the Crow, the Flathead, the Kalispels and the Cree.

However, there is a problem, De Smet does not speak their language and he is forced to call on an interpreter with a bad reputation. Still, he takes a chance. On October 31, he leaves with the unreliable interpreter and a Cree half-blood in search of the base camp of the Blackfoot Indians. After a 10-day search, they have not yet found the camp in question. De Smet smells trouble. He fears that the interpreter is planning a robbery. Just in time, another Canadian joins the trio. The next night the interpreter has disappeared. But De Smet does not give up. They roam for another 8 days, without encountering a living soul. Little does De Smet know that warlike Cree have driven the Blackfoot out of this area. And then it snows for 4 days straight. De Smet surrenders. He moves as fast as he can north, to Fort Augustus (today Edmonton, Alberta) to spend the winter there. As usual, the HBC's chief merchant, John Rowand, takes good care of his guests. De Smet gives the Catholic community in and around the fort some comfort and support during the long and lonely winter months. He also meets Fathers Thibault and Bourassa who work in the Indian mission of St. Anne (50 miles west of the fort).

1846

In the month of March the weather usually is a bit milder. For De Smet, that is the signal to leave. On March 12, he says goodbye to his host and, in the company of three half-bloods, he hurries across the frozen rivers with three dog sleds. Six days later, he reaches Fort Assiniboin on the Athabasca River. In 9 days they covered 480 kilometers over the frozen Athabasca River to Fort Jasper in the Canadian Rockies. There they will stay with Colin Fraser of the HBC until Easter Sunday. On April 25, De Smet moves on, first with a few Indians, then alone. Every year in the spring, an HBC brigade crosses the mountains from the west. De Smet decides to wait for these voyageurs. And he doesn't even have to wait long, because on May 6, the first travelers from the Columbia River basin arrive. The next day De Smet climbs the Athabasca Pass (Committee's Punchbowl) on his snowshoes. 13 kilometers further he meets a group of 18 men from the HBC. Among them is Francis Ermatinger, the old acquaintance of Fort Hall (1841). The captain gives De Smet permission to sail with an HBC barge. De Smet has to hurry. 2 days later he has to be at Boat Encampment on the Columbia, because then the ships leave for Fort Colville. Walking 30 miles a day across the Rockies in winter is a lot. The next morning the race starts, Athabasca Pass, Great Western Slope, Le Grande Côte, Pacific Creek and a branch of the Wood River. But on May 10, he reached Boat Encampment on the Columbia River. Fortunately, the HBC boats are still on site.
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20. 1846 Ft Edmonton-Athabasca Pass-Ft Vancouver
With an Iroquois at the helm and 10 oarsmen, they take on the many obstacles on the wild water: Martin Rapids, Great Rapids and Dalles of the Dead. They sail past St. Peter of the Lakes mission. At the Little Dalles, just above Fort Colville, De Smet asks to be allowed to disembark in order to take this obstacle on foot along the bank. This time too, De Smet feels the accident coming : the boat ends up in a whirlpool and is lost, but luckily there are no fatalities this time. At the end of May, De Smet reaches Fort Colville and the St. Paul mission. There he meets Father Nobili. It came from the north via the Okanagan River. His health is not good. He's on his way to Fort Vancouver for medical attention. The person in charge of Fort Colville ensures that De Smet and Nobili can sail together to Fort Vancouver.

In Fort Vancouver, De Smet wants to buy supplies for the missions. Everything is perfectly under control in the Willamette Valley. The sisters' school is going well and in July François Norbert Blanc becomes Archbishop of Oregon, with Modeste Demers as Bishop of Vancouver Island. Augustin Magloire Blanchet, brother of François Norbert, becomes the first bishop of Walla Walla (transferred to Nesqually in 1850).

De Smet wants to travel from the Willamette to the St. Francis Xavier mission, but a powder horn explodes in his face and he misses the HBC boat to Fort Colville. He travels to Fort Walla Walla. An important settlement has grown up near the Dalles, once the meeting place between the Indians of the coast and those of the plateau. The place is teeming with pioneers and emigrants. In Walla Walla, De Smet leaves the Columbia to travel through Spokane and Nez Percé country with a train of donkeys and horses and his cargo. He supplies the most important missions. On 17 July he arrives at Father Hoecken's in St. Ignatius. From there he leaves for the mission of the Sacred Heart at the Coeur d'Alêne. Joseph Joset is in charge. Point is replaced by Gregory Gazzoli. Father Point has been frustrated for some time and has now written to Roothaan asking to be allowed to work for the French Jesuits in Canada. This request will not reach Roothaan until February 1847. De Smet and Point leave together for St. Mary and the Flatheads.

Summer is coming. The mission work is moving in the right direction, but it suffers from a chronic shortage of personnel. This is especially visible at St. Mary's Mission: Soderini wants to disengage, Point wants to leave and in August 1845 Zerbinati died. Ravalli who works in St. Ignatius is moved to St. Mary. The Flathead have become very aggressive in the meantime. They think that the god of their new faith, the Master of Life protects them in battle. The Flathead organize a visit to the hunting grounds of the Crow Indians. De Smet and Point follow them. In Three Forks they learn that the Flathead have moved over the Bozeman Pass to the Yellowstone River, along with some Nez Percé and ... a delegation of Blackfoot Indians. There's no time to lose. Gabriel and Charles lead the way. De Smet and Point follow as fast as they can. After a 36-hour drive, they finally make contact with their fellow tribesmen in the valley of the Yellowstone. The Flathead and the Crow face each other with weapons drawn. The Crow already made three attacks, but the Flathead managed to defend themselves bravely. Now it's Victor, the Flathead chief, to attack. Eventually, the Crow Indians are routed. When De Smet arrives at the Flathead camp, he is upset. He protests and immediately wants to send a message of peace to the Crow, but they gave up and are untraceable.

The Fladhead host Blackfoot Indians. They are amazed. The Flathead have a secret weapon! The Blackfoot delegation asks the Black Robe to come to their area as well. De Smet accepts the invitation. The Smet and Point plus 400 Flathead and Nez Percé Indians move through the valley of the Yellowstone River to the mouth of the Big Horn. There they travel northwest and on September 14 they reach the village of the Big Lake chief near the Judith River, a tributary of the Missouri. They all move together to the vicinity of a new Blackfoot trading post: Fort Clay. The fort was erected this year by Alexander Culbertson at the confluence of the Marias and Missouri Rivers. Culbertson is married to the daughter of a Blackfoot chief, a Blood. That explains his excellent relations with the Blood, Piegan and Siksika Indians. After the disappearance of Fort Mc Kenzie in 1844 and Fort Lewis in 1847, this is the only significant fort in the area.
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21. 1846 St Paul-St Mary - Ft Benton
(From Christmas 1850, the fort was renamed. In honor of Thomas Hart Benton of St. Louis, it would henceforth be called Fort Benton. The fort became very important because the Missouri River usually remained navigable to that place in the summer. In 1859 the military track, the Mullan Road, from Fort Benton to Walla Walla is completed and the first steamer arrives on July 2, 1860. In 1869 it becomes a military fort and will remain so until 1881.

North of Fort Clay, on an island in the Missouri River, a great council is held with the Flathead, Nez Percé, Gros Ventre, and Blackfoot (Piegan and Blood) Indians. De Smet and Point work out a peace treaty and Point agrees to remain with the Blackfoot as a missionary. Unfortunately, the appointment that won't last very long as Roothaan has assigned him as reqquested to a new post in eastern Canada. On September 24, De Smet and Point leave for Fort Lewis. De Smet befriends Alexander Culbertson there.

And then it is high time for De Smet to leave for St. Louis via the Missouri. On September 28, in the company of up to 1,000 Indians and under the deafening noise of hundreds of gunfires, De Smet and Point shook hands one last time. De Smet takes place on a flat barge that slowly floats eastwards towards Fort Union with two paddlers. On the way, they are attacked by a bear. On October 11, after 845 kilometers on the Missouri, they reach Fort Union. Two days later, De Smet is on his way again. A favorable wind is blowing and De Smet improvises a sail. In this way they cover 113 kilometers per day. On October 19, De Smet reached the new Fort Berthold. They sail past many Indian villages. Near the Knife River they are surprised by a gang of Arikara. The Arikara Indians are known as murderers and thieves. Fortunately, they recognize the Black Robe. Anyway, fear remains. After 4 days and nights of paddling, they arrive in Fort Pierre (AFC) on October 31. Another 1,000 miles to St. Louis. After 3 days of rest they sail on. On November 6, they meet the Sioux Indians at Fort Lookout. On November 13 they reach Fort Vermillion. It suddenly gets a lot colder.
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22. 1846 Ft Benton-St Louis
At Council Bluffs, where the Jesuits made their failed attempt a few years ago to improve the lives of the Potawatomi, De Smet meets a large group of refugees. They are 10,000 Mormons expelled from Nauvoo in search of a homeland where they can practice their faith undisturbed. Until now, this was impossible. They were bullied in Illinois and Missouri and now they're camped on the banks of the Missouri. In June their leader, Brigham Young, came to this place to use it as winter quarters. According to legend De Smet gives Young a description of the landscape west of the Rockies. He answers many questions. Come Spring, the Mormons will move further west and eventually find their Zion in Utah on the shores of the Great Salt Lake based, among other things, on the information that De Smet gave them in Council Bluffs. However, it is certain that De Smet never saw the area in Utah with his own eyes. De Smet never crossed the Uinta Mountains and never visited the Great Basin. More than likely he got the description of this area from trappers like Thomas Fitzpatrick or from Peter Skene Ogden.

On November 23, De Smet will visit the pastor of the new city of St. Joseph. When De Smet arrives in Westport on November 28, he can leave his crew. He manages to get a seat on the last steamer to St. Louis. At the beginning of December, De Smet returns to St. Louis after three years and six months.

Between 1843 and 1846 he traveled 70,000 kilometers. This year alone, the missionary has traveled 10,500 kilometers, much of it on foot. But an unpleasant surprise awaits De Smet at the University of St. Louis. A letter from Rome shows that Roothaan fired De Smet. He is no longer responsible for the Rocky Mountain Mission as from August six of last year. Roothaan has his reasons. De Smet keeps his potty covered, sets up missions but doesn't complete anything, travels a lot and thus wastes a lot of time and money. De Smet would suffer from an urge to expand and that without the necessary resources to keep his promises to the Indians. De Smet allegedly misrepresented the facts and displayed an exaggerated optimism about the conversion of the Indians (indeed, the Flathead, Kalispels, and Coeur d'Alêne welcome the missionaries but continue to sin : gambling, alcoholism, violence and polygamy ... Roothaan has that negative information from some missionaries in the Rockies and just takes their messages for truth (without consulting Blanchet, for example). According to Roothaan, De Smet is too worldly. But Roothaan does not question the possibilities of the reduction system (and that is precisely the weak point of the whole scheme, because the Indians are increasingly coming into contact with the whites and are more and more subject to their bad influence). It is a fact that De Smet travels a lot, visits the Indians a lot and takes too little time to manage his missionaries (who, moreover, are not always cut out for the job).

De Smet seeks support from Van de Velde, who has since succeeded Verhaegen as responsible for Missouri. But Van de Velde cannot undo Roothaan's decision. There is nothing else to do, Father Joseph Joset (35) will succeed De Smet. De Smet henceforth has to remain in St. Louis. Point, Mengarini, Nobili, Ravalli, De Vos, Hoecken, Joset and many other Fathers will continue his missionary work in the Rockies.
﻿
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1847 - 1850 : Bookkeeper in St. Louis


1847

When Van de Velde appoints him as bookkeeper-economist in St. Louis, a new but less adventurous chapter begins for De Smet. De Smet is deeply hurt by Roothaan's unexpected intervention. One thing is certain, he will not abandon the Indians and the missions in the Rocky Mountains. He resolves to raise money with redoubled zeal to supply his missions. To begin with, De Smet publishes a second book about his missionary work in the Rockies: Oregon Missions and Travels over the Rocky Mountains in 1845-46.

As procurator, Father Charles Elet has to go to Rome every two years to report. In St. Louis, the Jesuits still need young workers. De Smet is instructed to look for it in Europe and so he travels to the old continent once more with Elet.

It is spring when they arrive in Belgium and after a short visit to his family, De Smet accompanies Father Elet to Paris. De Smet takes a short retreat and then travels to Rome. He has an interview with Roothaan.

In Europe, revolution is in the air and it is difficult to convince people to become missionaries, but Charles Elet convinces his brother Jean Antoine to accompany him to the U.S.

Meanwhile, the Flathead Indians' conversion turns out to be rather superficial. After the hunting season, they collectively turn their backs to their new faith. They are particularly disappointed that Father Point has also donated their secret weapon to the Blackfoot Indians! Even their chief, Victor, can no longer make the dissident Flathead Indians listen to the missionaries. Father Point has since left for Canada and as a result left his 1,100 converted Blackfoot Indians behind. Missionary work among the Indians reached an all-time low when on November 29, in Waiilatpu, on the banks of the Walla Walla, Protestant missionaries Marcus and Narcissa Whitman, along with eleven inhabitants of the mission, are brutally murdered by rebellious Cayuse Indians. The mission station in Waiilatpu has been in existence for eleven years. Henry Spalding, the Protestant missionary to the Nez Percé Indians, claims that the Jesuits are instrumental in this tragedy : the Catholic missionaries use the Oregon Indians in their fight against the spread of the Protestant faith.

1848

On April 3, De Smet and Elet France for New York. They have at least $5,000 in their pocket. The weather gods above the North Atlantic once again seem very angry. The travelers have to cope with the seasickness until they can go ashore in New York on May 5. Once there, the news reaches them that Europe is in turmoil. With the deposition of Louis Philippe, a revolutionary and anti-clerical wind has once again risen in Paris, which will be felt as far away as Rome, Naples, Berlin, Vienna and Prague. Many priests flee Europe.

De Smet stays a little longer in New York to receive the first refugees and help them on their way. This time De Smet travels on the new waterway to the west, which runs for a large part over the Great Lakes. After a visit to Niagara Falls, he arrives back in St. Louis on July 4. There Elet appears to have been appointed Vice Provincial for the Jesuits of Missouri. That is a stroke of luck, because the new vice provincial has a great deal of understanding for De Smet's commitment. Elet immediately allows De Smet to fulfill his promise of 1846 and to talk to the dreaded Sioux Indians.

De Smet takes the boat to Bellevue (near Council Bluffs). At the mouth of the Platte, De Smet can join a small group of AFC members who travel on horseback to the region of the Niobrara and White rivers. It is extremely hot and the caravan is permanently surrounded by a cloud of aggressive mosquitoes. For 6 days they do not see a living soul, but at the Niobrara River they encounter a fairly large group of Ponca Indians. They are a bit hostile at first, but it doesn't take long before they pull out the pipe of peace. They know the reputation of the legendary Black Robe and thousands of Indians listen attentively to what De Smet has to say. The fur traders stop in Fort Pierre for the time being, but De Smet wants to go further inland. He hires Colin Campbell as a guide and interpreter and together they head west to the sources of the Niobrara and White rivers. They follow a trail to the Black Hills that parallels the south arm of the Cheyenne River. De Smet travels through the Mauvaises Terres (Badlands) in western South Dakota and describes a place where large skeletons of prehistoric animals lie.
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23. 1848 St Louis-Dakota Badlands-St Louis
25 days after his departure from Bellevue, De Smet arrives in a camp of Brulé and Ogallala Sioux hunters. These are real savages! They parade with the scalps of 32 freshly killed Omaha Indians. The massacre is celebrated extensively. Nevertheless, De Smet tries to change the ways of these bloodthirsty Indians. For one month he explains to them about Christian values. There he has his first encounter with Red Fish (a chief of the Ogallala; see 1863). On one of their raids, the Ogallala had invaded Crow country, and in one encounter Red Fish's daughter was captured. To get them back, Red Fish enlists De Smet's help. De Smet promises to pray for her when Red Fish improves his life. A few days later, the girl turns up back at the camp. One night she was able to escape through the hands of an unknown woman. She was still chased, but in the end she found her village by walking for her life for six days and nights. Red Fish believes that De Smet has created a small miracle. At the end of October, De Smet leaves the Brulé Indians with the promise to provide a permanent missionary. It is 1,500 miles to St. Louis. He hires a couple of paddlers and canoes to descend the Missouri River. Near Council Bluffs, a gale-force wind is blowing. The temperature drops quickly and the river freezes over. De Smet knocks on the door of a farmer. He agrees to rent him a cart. Thus he reaches St. Joseph. But the last steamer to St. Louis has already left. He chases the steamer. Because firewood has to be loaded on the way, he succeeds and arrives safely in St. Louis again.

1849

Van de Velde receives an important assignment in Chicago and Elet appoints De Smet as assistant vice-provincial and procurator. The assignment is no mean feat, as St. Louis he is now responsible for 200 Jesuits, the University of St. Louis with its 200 students, the Florissant Novitiate, the colleges of Bardstown, Louisville and Cincinnati plus 10 smaller sites. Two years ago the leadership of the Jesuits of Louisiana was transferred to the province of Lyons, but the Jesuits of Oregon and those of the Rocky Mountains are still governed from St. Louis (until Rome and later Turin take over in 1851) .

And then there are the missions at the Osage and the Potawatomi in Kansas, where 10 missionaries work. In the early 1940s, Christiaan Hoecken and Felix Verreydt moved from the St. Joseph Mission in Council Bluffs to the new home of the Potawatomi at Sugar Creek, south of Westport. There was in fact another group of Potawatomi, led by a Breton priest, a certain Petit, who had succeeded the missionaries Badin (New Orleans) and Deseille (Bruges). The Sisters of the Sacred Heart founded a school there. In 1848 these unfortunate Indians were driven further west again. The school and the missionaries would follow.

Hoecken, Duerinck, Gaillard and Dumortier set up the St. Mary mission in Kansas for them. De Smet ensures that the American government pays up the promised money. More to the south, in Neosho, the Dutch Father Schoenmakers and the Fleming Bax set up the St.-Franciscus Hieronymus mission at the Osage. Shoemakers will stay there from 1847 to 1887. De Smet will also support these missions financially. From those missions there are contacts with the Peoria, the Miami, the Seneca, the Cree and even the Sioux Indians. Father Bax (33) dies during a smallpox epidemic.

De Smet can count on a number of Belgian benefactors. They are: Count de Meeus, Countess d'Asprémont, Count de Mérode and even the Duke of Brabant (later Leopold II). De Smet can greatly improve the province's financial situation through a judicious policy. In the novitiate, De Smet befriends a half-blood who wants to become a Jesuit. It is Father Bouchard (his Indian name is Watomika, the swift-footed). He is the son of Kistalwa, a Delaware Indian, and Marie Bouchard, a Frenchwoman who came to the New World from the Auvergne during the Revolution. Bouchard will work in the San Francisco mission for 30 years and correspond regularly with De Smet.

It's a disaster year for St. Louis. During a fierce fire, 27 ships go up in flames and 500 houses are reduced to ashes. And to make matters worse, cholera breaks out. The epidemic claims no fewer than 200 victims. 1849 is also the year of a completely different fever. It is the gold rush that causes a huge migration of people. In two years, more than 80,000 settlers (mostly men) head west in a hurry and unprepared, in many cases on foot. The consequences are inevitable. In 1848 San Francisco was still a quiet port city with barely 500 inhabitants, but due to the Gold Rush it grew so fast that in 1850 it hosts 25,000 people. With the sudden increase in demand, a huge wave of inflation is emerging in the areas along the west coast. All prices are skyrocketing and the missions in the Rockies are in financial difficulties. Joseph Joset transfers the leadership of the mission to Father Michael Accolti. Roothaan again sends the necessary reproaches to De Smet. Between 1840 and 1846, De Smet pursued a poor financial policy, even worse, he did not fulfill his vow of poverty! De Smet does not accept that and refutes Roothaan's allegation. Accolti meanwhile decided, without waiting for Rome's approval, to go prospecting for gold in California with some clergymen. When Roothaan receives this information he is furious.

Every year more hunters and traders come to spend the winter near the St. Mary's mission. Those rough guys are a bad influence on the Flathead Indians. The missionaries and the Indians become estranged from each other and after the hunting season, most of the Flathead Indians decide to turn their backs on St. Mary for good. They deliberately set up camp outside the mission grounds. Neither Mengarini nor their chief Victor can change the Indians' decision.

The Hudson's Bay Company has evacuated Fort Vancouver. The headquarters of the HBC is now located in the city of Victoria on Vancouver island. 

De Smet suffers from rheumatism.

1850

Due to the persistent pain, De Smet limits his travels to what is necessary for the management of the vice-province.
[image:  ]

24. St Louis around 1855 (detail engraving, coll. V. Driessens).
St. Louis has 80,000 inhabitants.

Accolti decides to abandon De Smet's first mission, the reduction of the Flathead Indians, St. Mary on the Bitter Root River. At the end of the year, Mengarini moves to the valley of the Willamette and Antonio Ravalli leaves for the Coeur d'Alêne. The Jesuits sold the mission buildings to a certain Major John Owen. Owen is an Indian agent (a local trader with the Indians). He will make a fortress of it. Mengarini, Nobili and De Vos go to California to start a new mission (De Vos will die on September 23, 1886 in Santa Clara).
﻿
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1851 - 1854 : The Peace of Fort Laramie


1851

Through his publications and lectures, Peter John has become a well-known figure both in the United States. He can count on much support and sympathy as in Europe as well. Moreover, it has not escaped the notice of the American government that the Catholic missionary gets along very well with most Indian tribes. Washington decides to enlist De Smet's help in their efforts to avoid conflict with the Prairie Indians. The initiative comes not too soon, because the Indians have become very restless due to the massive migration right through their traditional hunting grounds. The Americans want to hold a council with all the tribes south of the Missouri and north of the Texan border. In this way, they hope to agree on safe emigration routes to Utah, California and Oregon. On April 19, the person responsible for Indian affairs in St. Louis, Colonel David Mitchell, officially asks De Smet to participate in the planned consultation at Fort Laramie. De Smet's assignment is to encourage as many tribes as possible to come to the fort by September first.

De Smet's plan is simple. He will sail to Fort Union, urging as many Indians as possible along the way to participate in the planned council. He will preach, distribute pamphlets and accompany the Indian delegation to Fort Laramie. Father Elet likes the plan. Father Christiaan Hoecken, missionary to the Potawatomi, will accompany De Smet.

In the meantime, Roothaan blames De Smet for the loss of the missions in the Bitterroots. In particular, he would have glossed over things too much. De Smet counter-argues that it is clear from letters from Accolti, Ravalli, Mengarini and Joset that the Flathead mission was doing very well until 1849. 49 is the year of the gold rush and the start of the massive waves of migration to the west. But despite Roothaan's criticism, Elet gives De Smet and Hoecken the go-ahead for the planned council.

On June 7, Captain Joseph La Barge steers the St.-Ange into the brown waters of the Missouri. The St.-Ange was built in '49 and is therefore still quite new. On the 60 meter long deck, the 100 passengers, mostly agents of the AFC, have to get along during the long journey to Fort Union (3,200 kilometers). Also on board is the young Swiss painter Rudolph Friederich Kurtz. Kurtz plans to spend a year with the fur traders in Fort Berthold. Along the way, Kurtz paints De Smet's portrait. Due to the late and sudden thaw, the Missouri River is very high and as a result a large part of the riparian area has been flooded. The shallow riverboat has to make its way through the countless uprooted trees and the floating wreckage of washed away houses, fences, stables and sheds. It is quite an art to navigate against the current between all those dangerous obstacles. The swollen carcasses of all kinds of drowned animals float in the murky water. Six days after leaving St. Louis (after 800 kilometres), a dreaded disease broke out on board the St.-Ange. 13 passengers suddenly develop a severe fever. It's cholera! De Smet also falls ill. Father Christiaan Hoecken takes care of the victims and assists the dying, but on June 19 the contagious disease also struck him and a few hours later he died. Hoecken is buried at the edge of a forest. On the way back, La Barge will pick up the coffin to take it to Florissant's novitiate. When the St.-Ange approaches the clear air of the plateau, at the mouth of the Platte, the epidemic, that claimed the lives of 20 people on board, has subsided. But in Native American land, most of the tribes along the Missouri River are once again victims of a massive smallpox epidemic. The casualty count is so high that the smell of death travels with the St.-Ange. Beyond Fort Pierre, De Smet organizes his first encounters with the stricken Lakota, the Arikara, Gros Ventre and Mandan Indians. He tries to comfort them and hopes that he will be able to offer more concrete help later.

On July 14, the St.-Ange reached its final destination : Fort Union at the mouth of the Yellowstone River. There, De Smet has exactly 2 weeks to prepare his journey to Fort Laramie. Some chiefs of the Assiniboin, the Minitaree, the Arikara, the Mandan and the Crow Indians will accompany De Smet to the place of the meeting. The AFC's local director, Alexander Culbertson, will also accompany them.

On July 31, the delegation of 35 people leaves with two carts and four small cars to their destination about 1,300 kilometers south. Ten days later they reach Fort Alexander, at the confluence of the Rosebud and Yellowstone rivers. After a break of 6 days, they cross the Yellowstone and follow a previously unknown route. It is dry and hot. In a cloud of vermin, the caravan travels through a wild landscape full of dry riverbeds and ravines. The guides regularly lose track, but after a few detours, the group finally reaches the Great Magic Road(the nickname the Indians have since given to the Oregon Trail). It is September 2 when De Smet recognizes the area around Red Buttes (southwest of Casper, Wyoming). They are too far west and have to drive east for a week to reach Fort Laramie. In '49 30,000 emigrants traveled by road and a year later another 50,000. Their passage has caused a permanent disturbance to the landscape. September is already late in the season and the route is deserted. They arrive at Fort Laramie on September 9. In and around Fort Laramie, where normally no more than 200 people live, there is not enough food for the thousands of Arapaho, Cheyenne, Crow, Arikara, Assiniboin, Mandan and Gros Ventre Indians. As a result the meeting must be relocated 56 kilometers to the east. De Smet and his delegation have to go to the mouth of the Horse Creek (Nebraska), on the south bank of the Platte. De Smet can travel on Colonel Robert Campbell's car.

On September 12, Mitchell gives the go-ahead for the grand deliberation. The purpose of the whole scheme is to give the Americans the right to travel undisturbed through the hunting grounds of the Indians. The whites also want forts to protect the Trail. In return, the Indians will receive compensation. Among the negotiators we find well-known names such as Thomas Fitzpatrick, Jim Bridger, A. B. Chambers and B. Gratz Brown. At least 10,000 Indians are now camping around the site of the meeting. They are Sioux, Cheyenne, Arapaho, Crow, Gros Ventre, Assiniboin and Arikara. The Shoshone, Pawnee, Kiowa, and Comanche don't participate in the talks because they don't trust the other Natives. After much palaver and rhetoric, everyone finally agrees with the proposals. The so-called Fort Laramie treaty of 1851, which should make the roads to Santa Fe, Utah, Oregon and California safe, is a fact. De Smet will draw a map in St. Louis with demarcated hunting areas for all Indians. During the consultation, De Smet converts a large part of the indigenous population present (approx. 2000 or 1 in 5!). With much delay, 24 wagons arrive on September 20, carrying $50,000 worth of food and other gifts, which are distributed without delay. Not long after, scouts bring the good news that along the southern fork of the Platte, three days from Fort Laramie, masses of bison graze ! For most Indians, that's the signal to break camp and go buffalo hunting. The deliberation lasted 12 days.
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25. 1851 St Louis-Ft Union-Ft Laramie-St Louis
On September 24, De Smet says goodbye to his fellow Indians and returns to St. Louis with the official delegation. He will personally accompany some chiefs who want to visit the Great Father in Washington. On their way back they meet Prince Paul of Württemberg, who travels to the Wind River mountains with a couple of Prussian officers. The gentlemen want to organize a nice hunting party. At Fort Kearny, Mitchell leaves the delegation to travel on to Nebraska City. De Smet, Fitzpatrick and the Indians travel to Fort Leavenworth. They visit the mission of the Potawatomi Indians in St. Mary and after a stay of three days they travel on to Westport. They stay at the Union hotel where Mitchell rejoins the group. They board the Clara on October 18 and arrive in St. Louis four days later. The Indians are deeply impressed by the living conditions of the whites. In the buildings of the University of St. Louis, De Smet organizes a banquet for his Indian delegation. The provincial promises the Indian guests to also send a Black Robe to their respective tribes. In total De Smet has covered 8,780 kilometers. The American government is very pleased with his role as mediator.

During his absence, Father Verhaegen took over De Smet's task as procurator. De Smet quietly hopes to return to his reductions in the Rockies, but Roothaan has other plans. He proposes Elet to send De Smet permanently to Europe. There he could continuously collect money for the missionary work, but when De Smet returns to St. Louis, Elet has died and William Stack Murphy has taken over responsibility for the vice-province. Murphy needs De Smet in St. Louis. He wants him to remain in office. So De Smet will continue to serve as procurator and socius for the Missouri vice-province in St. Louis until his death.

In desperation, Roothaan removes the missions in the Rockies from the control of the vice-province in St. Louis and places them under his direct command.

1852

Father Terwecoren starts the fortnightly magazine Collection de précis historiques littéraires, scientifiques. The publication appears simultaneously in Brussels and Paris. Between 1852 and 1854 De Smet sent no fewer than 27 contributions to the editors of the magazine, with the result that his fame in Europe increased considerably.

In March, De Smet assists the seriously ill student Ralph Benton (22). On March 17, Ralph dies of dysentery, but not after converting to the Catholic faith. Ralph is the son of the well-known Senator of Missouri, Thomas Hart Benton and the brother of Jessie Benton, who married John Charles Frémont in 1841. The senator, although Protestant (Presbyterian), henceforth becomes De Smet's best ally in Washington D.C.
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26. Thank you from Senator Thomas Hart Benton (coll. P. de Smet)
On April 15, De Smet receives a letter from Roothaan in which he mitigates his former accusations. Roothaan begins to realize what has gone wrong in the Rockies. The missions just can't work like the reductions in Paraguay. There are insufficient financial resources to ensure the independence of the Indians and as it turns out white influence is impossible to avoid. The Indians are nomads, once hunting their conversion fades away. De Smet does not fully agree with Roothaan's statement, but he is already satisfied that he is no longer the scapegoat.

St. Louis now has 120,000 inhabitants, almost half of whom are Catholics. The old Catholic core mainly consists of French speakers. They are the first settlers from Louisiana and Canada. But more and more non-native speakers are coming. In a few years large groups of German, Polish and Irish Catholics turn this French-speaking core into a minority. Despite the immigration, Catholic predominance remains. Many Catholics come from famine-stricken Ireland. In St. Louis, the Catholic community has a cathedral, eleven churches, a university, a seminary, a number of schools and boarding schools, a hospital, an orphanage, a refuge for women and a few monasteries. In total the U.S. has six archbishops, 35 bishops and 1,500 priests serving 1.6 million active Catholics (out of 25 million Americans). But that success arouses envy and throughout the U.S., including St. Louis, a certain aversion to Catholicism is gradually growing. After the repression that followed the European disturbances in 1848, numerous revolutionaries from Italy, Switzerland, Germany and Hungary fled the old continente. In America, these radical immigrants are declaring war on all things Popish. They organize demonstrations. Fires are set and people are killed. After the gold rush and the massive immigration that followed, a form of xenophobia is also emerging among the Real Americans. Some Protestants see this development as an opportunity to put a stop to the rise of Papism. It's an explosive cocktail that culminates in a new secret movement: the Know-Nothings. Between 1852 and 1856, this movement united the forces of the resistance. The political wing of this group is the American Party, which promises to defend the rights of the poorest Americans against the growing tide of European immigrants: America for the Americans, as it were. In 1854 Know-Nothings' harassment caused 20,000 Catholics to leave the U.S. for good. Fortunately, most Americans quickly become fed up with the terror of the American Party and in 1856 the election of Buchanan reversed this black page in American history. During this turbulent period, De Smet withdrew a bit from the public eye so as not to provoke the Know-Nothings and the American Party.

For the ordinary, poverty-stricken emigrant, the journey to the New World is not a pleasure trip. A good percentage do not survive the crossing from Europe to the promised land. Between New Orleans and St. Louis, the overcrowded paddle boats spread many deadly diseases. De Smet regularly takes care of Flemish emigrants in difficulties. When father, mother and one of the children from one family die shortly after their trip in St. Louis, he places the eight remaining orphans with good Catholic families. 

1853

New Washington Territory governor, Isaac Stevens asks De Smet to accompany him to the northwest. De Smet has a good reputation with the local population, including the feared Blackfoot Indians, which is a handy bonus. De Smet does not want to put himself in front of the cart of this clever politician and thanks him for the honour.

In April, De Smet visits Washington D.C. on his way to Europe. He has an interview with President Pierce. On May 9, he departs from New York for Europe with Bishop John Miège aboard the steamer Fulton. They arrive in Le Havre on May 20, a fast eleven day crossing. In the meantime they learn that Roothaan has died in Rome. De Smet gives a lecture in Paris. In November, De Smet and Miège will meet again in Paris. In addition to a full purse, De Smet brings eight new recruits. The bishop also has five candidates for Missouri. Roothaan is succeeded by Father Beckx.

In December, De Smet and Miège leave with their thirteen recruits from Antwerp on the Humboldt for the U.S. The Humboldt's destination is New York, but the supply of coal is too short and near the American mainland, the captain decides to head for Halifax and bunker there. A thick fog off the coast of Nova Scotia makes entering the harbor almost impossible. A local fisherman offers his services to pilot the passenger ship. The captain of the Humboldt accepts the invitation, but that turns out to be a capital mistake. At 6 o'clock in the morning, while everyone is still asleep, the ship hits a reef off Devil's Island. The Humboldt leaks and seems hopelessly lost. Lifeboats are deployed, but when the fog clears the ship appears to be only 30 meters from the coast. Those on board are terrified. De Smet celebrates a Mass of Thanksgiving at Halifax Cathedral.

On his return to St. Louis, De Smet learns that Van de Velde has been appointed Bishop of Chicago and that Miège now bears responsibility for the entire Indian Territory.

1854

De Smet visits the sick mothers of David Mitchell and Benjamin Bonneville. Bishop Lamy of Santa Fe asks Beckx to send De Smet to New Mexico. St. Louis is once again faced with an acute shortage of personnel, so that De Smet has to remain at his post. Beckx decides that De Smet no longer has to monitor the accounts of the Rocky Mountain Mission. Antonio Ravalli will head the mission, henceforth called the Oregon Mission administratively dependent on California. From now on, the financial control will be done by the province of Turin (Italy). De Smet loses another old acquaintance when Thomas Fitzpatrick (55) suddenly dies of pneumonia. De Smet visits a number of colleges in Ohio and Kentucky.

In Washington, a law is passed (the Kansas-Nebraska Act) with the intention of removing as many Indians as possible from the Kansas-Nebraska transit area. The Indians from the east need to move again. They are re-settled south of Kansas, in a new Indian Territory (future Oklahoma). It is impossible for the Jesuits to follow the diaspora and be present in all the new reservations of the Indian Territory. Thousands of wild Indians still roam in the rest of the prairie (Colorado, Wyoming, the Dakotas and Montana). They are uncivilized tribes living mainly from hunting. It is difficult to convert these wandering nomads. In St. Louis, the Jesuits' attention will henceforth be directed primarily to the growing white community. The Prairie Indians are now beginning to feel that their way of life is seriously threatened by the increasing white immigration. That explains why there are more and more incidents between the Natives and the settlers. A well-known incident is the so-called Grattan Massacre, which takes place near Fort Laramie, not far from the place where the lasting peace of Fort Laramie was concluded three years ago. Frightening Bear, the chief of all Sioux Indians appointed by the Americans in 1851, is killed in the conflict.
﻿
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1855 - 1859 : Enlisted in the United States Army


1855

De Smet travels to Kentucky and Ohio, visits the colleges of Chicago, Milwaukee and Cincinnati, and also spends time in Philadelphia, Baltimore, New York and Washington.

Washington Territory Governor Isaac Stevens is putting heavy pressure on the Indian tribes in the Northwest to give up large parts of their land and start living on reservations. He makes treaties with them on his own, treaties that will later be hotly disputed. To protect the interests of the Indians, the Jesuits of the Oregon Mission participate in that consultation. Antonio Ravalli advises the Indians to accept the whites' proposals, knowing that otherwise they will be forcibly removed.

General William Harney takes revenge on the Sioux Indians who are increasingly violating the treaty of Laramie. In mid-September, he surprises a group of Brulé Sioux Indians near Ash Hollow. Little Thunder's camp along the Blue Water Creek is completely wiped out.

1856

When the Yakima Indians fully realize the meaning of the treaties they made with Stevens, they revolt en masse. Antonio Ravalli is able to persuade his Indians in the Northwest not to join the conflict.

The University of St. Louis now has more than 300 students. In September, De Smet will travel to Europe.
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27. The old University of Saint Louis (coll. P. de Smet)
1857

In July, De Smet returns to the United States with seven recruits.

In October, the U.S. experience an economic depression. In St. Louis, a number of banks fail, construction activity comes to a standstill, many factories close and the ships lie idle. The people who lose their jobs become aggressive. It's time for a scapegoat. To divert attention from the financial debacle and from the growing disagreement between North and South about whether or not to abolish slavery (abolitionism), the latent aversion to the nonconformist way of life of the Mormons is being fueled. To check the success of the Mormons, the Americans want to annex their free state of Deseret. In October, 3,000 soldiers escort a U.S. appointed governor for the planned territory to Salt Lake City. Mormon leader Brigham Young speaks of an outright provocation. A Mormon army halts the invasion by making it impossible to supply the American Expeditionary Force. They raid the convoy, take all the horses, mules, and cattle and set fire to the wagons. General Harney is tasked with fresh troops to relieve the beleaguered invasion force, protect the new governor and occupy Salt Lake City. Harney is a hardened fighter. He has dealt with the Indians in Florida, Texas and New Mexico and two years ago he dealt a heavy blow to the Brulé Sioux in upper Missouri. Because three-quarters of his army consists of Catholics, he needs a Catholic chaplain.

On December 14, Captain John Mullan, on his way to Washington, visits De Smet in St. Louis. He has a sad message. The superior of St. Mary in Kansas, Father Duerinck (a cousin of De Smet), drowned in the Missouri River on his way to St. Louis.

1858

De Smet braves snow and ice to visit the St. Mary mission. There is bad news again in April. On April 10, his political ally, Thomas Hart Benton, passed away in Washington D.C.

Beckx recognizes that merging mission work in California and Oregon is a blunder. It is difficult for Father Congiato to form a picture of the situation in the Rockies from Santa Clara. Oregon will now have a separate board.

When gold is discovered in the northwest, the whites do not keep the agreements made earlier. Whipped up by the gold rush, they illegally enter the land of the Indians (including the Colville reservation). The Indians are furious and this time the clerics are unable to restrain them.

In May, Harney asks De Smet to accompany him as a chaplain on the military expedition to Deseret, Utah. De Smet has apparently come to dislike the Mormons. The situation in St. Louis has meanwhile evolved in such a way that De Smet can free himself a little more. He accepts Harney's invitation, as it allows him to get close to the Indians in the Northwest. When the job is done, he may be able to revisit his missions from Utah and perhaps even establish a new mission among the Blackfoot. The provincial Murphy gives De Smet permission to serve as chaplain. On May 15, De Smet is officially appointed by the Secretary of War. During the trip with the Twilight to Fort Leavenworth, De Smet meets fur trader Henry A. Boller. Around June 15, De Smet leaves Fort Leavenworth in Kansas with Harney's troops to the west. De Smet has a tent to take confessions and celebrate Mass along the way. Along the Platte, De Smet speaks with passing Pawnee, Sioux and Cheyenne Indians. De Smet notes that many farms and even a few villages have been built along the Platte. The legendary road to the west, the Oregon Trail, is littered with broken-down wagons, skeletons, torn clothing, and all sorts of discarded household items. Three weeks later and 500 miles away, at the point where the railway crosses the South Platte River, word reaches Harney that the Mormons have ceased all resistance and that the new governor has already been installed. Harney is ordered to turn back and so the expedition has no choice but to turn around. Back in St. Louis, De Smet offers his resignation, but there are riots in the northwest and Harney is ordered to restore peace there too. And so De Smet will remain in service for the time being.
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28. 1858 St Louis-South Platte-St Louis
For 15 years, the Indians of the Northwest have adapted quite well. Many Indians have become successful farmers. The harvest is good, there are windmills and new fields are put into use every year. However, the peace is fragile. The gold rush has lured a multitude of adventurers to the west. There is a lot of scum among the immigrants from the U.S., Mexico, Peru, Chile, the Sandwich Islands (Hawaii) and Europe. In California live al lot of runaway deserters, thieves and murderers. Through northern California, the climate of lawlessness also reaches the northwestern areas (now Oregon, Washington, Idaho and Montana). There the Indians are an easy target for these white villains. The Natives are driven further and further into the mountains. Sometimes the settlers pay the Indians for their land, horses and pelts, but usually the idea prevails that the only good Indian is a dead Indian. Just as in California, there is organized genocide in the Northwest, so in Oregon and Washington the Indians who are in the way are shamelessly massacred. Money is given for scalping. Both children and elderly people are targets. Their food and other resources are poisoned. Smallpox contaminated clothing is distributed. Often people pay with fire water (alcohol of poor quality). In 10 years time, the Indian population will drop from 100,000 to 30,000. Gold miners occupy the lands of the Cayuse, the Walla Walla, the Nez Percé, the Yakima, and the Spokane. The so-called reductions are also coming under pressure. The St. Paul mission near Fort Colville, founded in 1845 by Father De Vos for the Kettle, has been irretrievably lost. The Kettle sell their land to the whites and flee into booze. At the end of 1858, Vercruysse and Ravalli finally give up and move with a few faithful to the mission of the Coeur d'Alêne. Father Joset's Sacred Heart is also in trouble. For the Cayuse, Nez Percé, Yakima and Paloose enough is enough. This time they're going to resist. In the spring of 1858, Colonel Edward Steptoe arrives in the Willamette Valley to forcefully restore peace around Fort Colville. On his way to the fort, he passes through the land of the peace-loving Coeur d'Alêne Indians. Despite Father Joset's protest, Steptoe challenges the Coeur d'Alêne. They accept the challenge and kill two officers plus a number of soldiers. The Americans retreat and leave behind their luggage and a cannon. After this incident, the Steptoe disaster, the fire hits the pan. The Indians think they are invincible and the U.S. is at war with the Indians of the Northwest.

On September 20, Harney's army departs from New York for Panama with the SS Star of the West. On September 29, they travel by train in 3 hours from the Atlantic to the Pacific. On October 2, they leave for California by ship with 1,300 prospectors. Upon their arrival in San Francisco on October 16, Harney learns that the war in Washington is all but over. Two confrontations, one in August and the other in September, were enough for Colonel George Wright to bring the rebellious Spokane and Coeur d'Alêne Indians to their knees. De Smet stays at the headquarters of the Jesuits in California and thus gets to know the fast-growing city of San Francisco. On October 20, the expeditionary force steams on to the mouth of the Columbia. On October 23, they sail into the turbulent mouth of the mighty stream and a day later they arrive in the now military Fort Vancouver. After their beating, the Indians want peace at all costs. The insurgents are willing to hand over the Indians who have blood on their hands, plus a number of hostages. Wright wasted no time. When Harney arrives, Wright has already hanged 11 insurgent leaders and is holding 33 more hostages at Fort Walla Walla. De Smet proposes to go to the area of the Indians as a messenger, spend the winter with them and report in the spring. The Coeur d'Alêne live 400 miles from Fort Vancouver. On October 29, De Smet leaves for Fort Walla Walla with an interpreter. On November 1, he reaches Dalles City. There he continues his journey in an army ambulance. He passes the mouths of the Deschutes, John Day and Umatilla rivers and on November 10th he reaches Fort Walla Walla. There De Smet meets Father Congiato and Colonel Wright with his Indian hostages. De Smet proposes to leave the hostages under his care. Wright opposes that proposal, but the commander of Fort Walla Walla sees the reasonableness of the proposal and lets them go. The liberated hostages not only serve as guides, they also ensure that De Smet will be more than welcome among the rebellious tribes. In three days the group travels from Fort Walla Walla to the shores of Lake Coeur d'Alêne. At the North Fork of the Coeur d'Alêne River, they reach the Sacred Heart mission on November 21. Here Fathers Gregory Gazzoli, Louis Vercruysse and Brother François Huybrechts take care of several Coeur d'Alêne families. For De Smet it is a moving moment, after twelve years he is finally back in the mission from which he expected so much! What he sees does not disappoint him. The fathers have done their utmost. Between the houses is a beautiful church. Between the fields and meadows are barns and there is even a water mill. This must not be lost! He is determined to do everything he can to put the Indians back on the right path. De Smet hibernates in the Sacred Heart mission where at Christmas he celebrates midnight mass. De Smet writes a letter to Harney proposing to travel to Fort Vancouver with a series of chiefs to talk about the final peace.
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29. 1858 St Louis-Panama-Ft Walla Walla - Sacred Heart
1859 

After Sacred Heart, De Smet also wants to visit the other missions. In February he wants to go to the Kalispels, the Pend d'Oreille and also to his first mission, St. Mary, in the valley of the Bitterroot River, where many Flathead families still reside. He also wants to go to St. Ignatius, a mission he has never seen and was founded five years earlier in Mission Valley. Mission Valley is a few miles north of St. Mary. It is still early in the season and it will be a difficult journey by canoe on the Clark River. After 22 days he has only covered the first 160 kilometers. In St. Ignatius everything goes on as usual. Father Adriaan Hoecken has ensured that the 2,000 converted Indians have stayed out of the conflict. In Mission Valley, De Smet awaits the good news that Harney wants to accept his proposal. The Kootenai also come to visit De Smet. Many Flathead Indians still live in the vicinity of St. Mary and the elders still mourn the departure of Mengarini, whom they have searched everywhere in vain after his departure. In April, De Smet convinces the chiefs of the Pend d'Oreille, the Kalispels, the Flathead, the Coeur d'Alêne, the Yakima and the Spokane (also the intransigent rebel Kamiakin) to follow him to Harney.
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30. Sacred Heart-St Mary-Ft Vancouver
On April 16, De Smet leaves for Fort Vancouver with 9 chiefs. It will be a difficult journey that will take more than a month. The snow is two meters thick in some places, the water in most rivers is very high and the vast forests are dotted with fallen trees blocking the passage. With great difficulty they can get out of the snowy mountain regions to arrive at Fort Walla Walla on May 13th. After 5 days of rest, De Smet travels alone to Fort Vancouver. In Fort Walla-Walla, the agent with the Flathead Indians, John Owen, behaves rather haughtily towards the remaining Indians and one night Kamiakin dissapears. When Harney learns this, he is furious at Owen's stupid attitude. In the meantime, the chiefs have also arrived at Fort Vancouver, so that the consultations can start on May 28. Everything is going according to plan. The Indians stay there for three days. Harney promises them a homeland between the Rockies, the Bitterroot Mountains and the Kootenai River. The reservation would be run by the Jesuits and by the U.S. government. De Smet apparently has General Harney's confidence. He follows the wise advice of the missionary. But the administration in Washington thinks otherwise. As usual, the governor of the Washington Territory, Isaac Stevens, made separate arrangements with the Umatilla, Yakima, Nez Percés and Coeur d'Alêne Indians. Stevens' agreements will be ratified by the War Department.
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31. Father De Smet with chiefs in 1859 (the text on the photo was added ten years later, coll. P. de Smet).
De Smet is given permission by the military authorities to travel back overland. On June 15, he leaves Fort Vancouver with the Indian negotiators. He follows the Columbia upstream, crossing the Spokane desert to travel up the north arm of the Coeur d'Alêne River to the Sacred Heart mission. From there he goes with Father Congiato to St. Ignatius in Mission Valley, following a new but difficult path. On July 7, they reach the Sacred Heart mission at the Coeur d'Alênes. They move over the Bitterroot Mountains to St. Ignatius at the Flathead. On July 22 they leave with a couple of Indian guides for the last 320 kilometers to Fort Benton. On July 26, they cross the continental divide, following the Sun River to its mouth near the Great Falls of the Missouri. There they meet Father Hoecken and Brother Magri. On July 29, Congiato and De Smet reach Fort Benton, where Hoecken established the St. Peter mission for the Blackfoot.

De Smet intended to ride to St. Louis on horseback, but the arduous mountain journeys have completely exhausted the poor animals. There is no other option than to rent a manned rowing boat. De Smet leaves with three rowers plus a pilot. The Missouri makes its way through the endless prairie. Here and there the shore is rocky or forested. When it gets dark they camp along the banks of the Missouri, but usually they prefer an island or a sandbar in the river itself, for danger is never far away. The trip goes fast, they sail down the Missouri making 80 to 130 kilometers a day. Fortunately, the hungry wolves, the aggressive grizzly bears and the treacherous cougars stay away. Along the way, they encounter Crow and other Indians. On August 18, De Smet visits the Assiniboin at Fort Union. On August 22, the Hidatsa and Mandan at Fort Berthold. There he is a guest of Henry Boller. On August 24, he visits the Arikara at Fort Clark. On September 1 he is a guest of the Sioux near Fort Pierre and on September 8 he meets with Colonel Munroe at Fort Randall. On September 9 near Omaha City they encountered the first steamer. It's the Thom E. Tudd. De Smet buys himself a place to cover the remaining 1,000 kilometers to St. Louis in more comfortable and, above all, protected conditions. De Smet arrives in St. Louis on 23 September. He visits Dr. Moses Linton and records his experiences in the doctor's diary. In 2 years, De Smet has covered 24,000 kilometers.
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32. 1859 Ft Vancouver-Ft Benton-St Louis
Father Joset restarts the mission at Fort Colville. On the Sun River, Father Hoecken establishes a new mission for the Blackfoot : St.-Peter.
﻿
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1860 - 1865 : During the Civil War.


1860

At the end of September, after his resignation as chaplain, De Smet travels to Europe for the twelfth time. He has a fixed scenario for his performance in the old continent. Well in advance the newspapers are informed of his arrival. As a result the press pays extensive attention to the missionary's destination. This is followed by a determined begging tour through Belgium and other European counties. The Netherlands, France, Italy, Germany, England and even Ireland are scheduled. He visits the families of his colleagues. This is followed by a few wealthy benefactors and church leaders. And then it's the turn of education. De Smet performes in colleges, boarding schools and seminaries. Even primary education is not forgotten. In the nuns' schools, the stories about the conversion of the wild Indians are a popular item.
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33. "Hof ter Geesten" in Grembergen (own photo)
In November, De Smet stays with his family in Grembergen near Dendermonde where his older brother Charles has died and is buried.

Meanwhile, Congiato, Gazzoli and Hoecken complain to Father Felix Sopranis that De Smet's last visit to the Indians has not only evoked old memories but also new expectations. De Smet promises the Indians a lot and we just have to see how we can make it happen! Father Giorda even asks Beckx why, as the person responsible for the mission in Oregon, he does not have direct access to the funds that De Smet collects on their behalf. Despite the criticism, Beckx maintains that De Smet can use the collected money a he wishes. The missionary not only wants to make the purchases, he also wants to accompany the goods on their long journey through the North American continent on Charles Chouteau's transport ships. That transport is free, because Chouteau is a former student of De Smet!

1861

At the end of March, De Smet will return to the U.S. This time he makes the crossing on the Fulton. The crossing by steamship takes 14 to 16 days, twice as fast as the sailing ships. The duration of the crossing is also more regular, because it is less dependent on the wind. De Smet thus arrives in New York harbor during the night of 14 to 15 April. He has 12,000 dollars (66,000 francs) in his pocket. But the country is in turmoil! For the first time, the election of a president (Abraham Lincoln) poses a serious threat to the unity of the United States. South Carolina is the first to leave the Union, and on April 12, in Charleston harbor a cannonade starts the American Civil War. On April 17, De Smet leaves for St. Louis, where he arrives on April 19. From now on, all forms of transport and communication will be strictly controlled. Citizens suspected of treason are imprisoned without trial. There is hardly any freedom left.

Technically, communication between East and West has improved a lot. There are stagecoaches and the telegraph takes over the work of the Pony Express. But life remains hard and lonely for the missionaries in the mountains of the Northwest. After the long winter months in the Rockies, they eagerly await the first news from the east each year. De Smet knows this all too well, and he makes sure that the shipment he sends to the missionaries in spring contain enough books, photos, news, and information. This year too, De Smet would like nothing more than to accompany the shipment, but due to the death of the provincial, father Druyts, that is impossible this time. However, the mail and the precious cargo (a mill, plows and other tools) will never reach their destination because the transport ship goes up in flames along the way.

Despite the threat of war, De Smet visits Baltimore, New York and Washington D.C. In the latter city, on 18 July, he witnesses the disorderly retreat of the Unionists after their ignominious defeat at Bull Run.

De Smet writes letters to his brother-in-law, Charles Van Mossevelde, which show that De Smet largely shares President Lincoln's point of view. But at home, in Missouri, the Jesuits are caught between two fires. In St. Louis, De Smet is completely silent on political issues. The frontline runs right through the state of Missouri. The Union has occupies the northern part of Missouri, but most Missourians sympathize with the Southerners. Southern Missouri is controlled by rebels who regularly invade neighboring Kansas and northern Missouri. Many murders are committed in St. Louis itself. On the Mississippi, traffic with the south has become impossible, leaving hundreds of ships floating idly along the wharf. Many factories, warehouses, shops and houses are abandoned. 40,000 residents leave St. Louis and many young men enlist in one of the two armies. The schools are emptying and so the Jesuits get into trouble for the umpteenth time. The Bureau of Indian Affairs still owes the Kansas missions $15,000.

1862

In January, De Smet will travel to Washington D.C. to plead for payment of the overdue subsidy. He has a meeting with President Lincoln to convince him. De Smet gets his way. In the capital, he also dines with the Russian, Spanish, French and Belgian ambassadors (Blondeel Van Cuelenbroeck).

After 13 years, De Smet is relieved of his assignment to assist the Provincial. Finally he has more time for the Indians. De Smet is determined to start up the promised mission with the Sioux. In May, he sails from St. Louis to Fort Benton on Captain Charles Chouteau's Spread Eagle. On the ship he enjoys the company of Samuel Latta (Indian agent for the Upper Missouri area), Henry Reed (agent for the Blackfoot), and Lewis Morgan (anthropologist). On May 22, they approach the Niobrara River near a settlement of the Yankton Sioux. A day later they reach Fort Randall, the new military stronghold along the Missouri. A group of Ponca Indians live there. On May 27, they arrive at the mouth of the Bad River at the old Fort Pierre. On June 9, they meet the first Assiniboin and Crow Indians at Fort Union. Above Fort Berthold there is a dangerous race between Captain Joseph La Barge with the Emilie and Edwin Bailey with the Spread Eagle. Fortunately, the Spread Eagle arrives unscathed at Fort Benton on June 20 and De Smet is able to personally deliver the goods for the St. Peter mission to Fathers Giorda and Immoda. After 17 years of missionary work, Father Adriaan Hoecken has returned to the East. In the meantime, De Smet has heard that things are rumbling among the Indians in the vicinity of Fort Pierre. The dispute is between the Indians who want to accept the gifts of the whites and those who don't want to depend on them. There have already been deaths. In addition, the Sioux hunt all whites who come to Montana to look for gold. Reportedly, the Indians even attack the transport ships on the Missouri. De Smet abandons his original plan to convert the Sioux for the time being and on July 6 he hastily returns with the Shreveport from La Barge to St. Louis. For the Indians, a transport ship on the Missouri is easy target. De Smet knows this, he experiences such an attack first hand: with a hail of bullets and arrows, the Indians are able to stop a ship on the Missouri. A week later, near Fort Pierre, they learn that Bear's Rib, a friendly Sioux chief, has been killed because he has accepted the annual rations from the Sioux in defiance of the opposition. De Smet disembarks at Fort Leavenworth to visit the St. Mary mission in Kansas.
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34. 1862 St Louis-Ft Benton-St Louis
When De Smet arrives in St. Louis, he learns that the Santee Sioux of Minnesota have revolted en masse on August 18. In less than 3 days they killed a thousand unsuspecting peasants. But the sudden resistance of their leader, Little Crow, becomes a tragedy for all the Native Americans of Minnesota. General Sibley disperses the rebellious redskins and in September a large number of mostly innocent Indians are captured. For the whites it is clear, it will never be quiet again befor all those unreliable and cruel savages are locked up in reservations. De Smet asks the American government not to hang the condemned Indians, but that happens anyway in December, with the result that the hostilities resume. For a while the Sioux make transport via the Missouri River impossible.

At the end of August, De Smet will visit Washington D.C. and some cities in the east. On September 17, he witnesses the battle of Antietam.

In Idaho, gold is found in Kootenai territory. This comes as no surprise to De Smet. He has known for twenty years that gold dust can be easily found in the small mountain streams, but he has deliberately concealed this knowledge. As in California, the invasion of the gold miners is disastrous for the local Indian communities.

1863

In March, it appears that the Union war machine needs more and more soldiers. All men between the ages of 18 and 45 are drafted through a Draft Act, including the clergy. De Smet appeals to the republican politician Thurlow Weed to intervene. Until the end of the civil war, there is a tacit agreement with the government that the Jesuits can follow their conscience. Some of them become chaplains to help bear the suffering of the faithful soldiers.

After the violent suppression of the uprising in Minnesota, a hostile sentiment has developed in the Indian territories. Despite the danger, De Smet cannot resist accompanying two young Italian brothers with his annual shipment of mission supplies to the northwest. On May 9, the Alone and the Nellie Rogers (Chouteau) depart from St. Louis. The ships are packed with prospectors who want to try their luck in the Washington territory. Not only the Indians, also the rebels try to sabotage the traffic between east and west. Transport on the Missouri is therefore no sinecure. In some places the banks of the river are littered with the victims of various massacres. The passengers know the risks and they are armed to the teeth. On the the Nellie Rogers a cannon is mounted. During the trip, De Smet befriends a certain doctor Martin from Dublin who is traveling around the world. It is an exceptionally dry year. It's the end of June and no rain is expected. Due to the persistent heat, the Missouri is so dry that a huge sandbar at the mouth of the Milk River makes all traffic impossible. The ships of Chouteau, the Nellie Rogers and the Alone, and the ships of La Barge, the Shreveport and the Robert Campbell, cannot reach Fort Benton. There is nothing for it but to disembark the 90 passengers and 200 tons of cargo from the Nellie Rogers. It's 300 miles to Fort Benton! They have to wait in a forest by the river for the Fort to send transport. Before long the camp is visited by some Crow and Gros Ventre Indians. However, they move on.

July 4 is Independence Day. The national holiday must be celebrated despite all diffilculties. The whites fire their guns, but some Indians in the neighborhood interpret these expressions of revelry completely differently. They return fire, wounding 2 whites. To make matters worse, 600 warriors on horseback suddenly appear. De Smet wants to do something to prevent further violence. He walks towards the Indian horsemen. Fortunately, one of the leaders recognizes the Great Black Robe. It is the son of Red Fish, an Ogallala Sioux. In 1848 De Smet had prayed for the rescue of his imprisoned sister. After an hour of talking back and forth, De Smet can convince de Ogallala that it is all a misunderstanding.

The wagons from Fort Benton take a full month to arrive. The transport will not show up until July 30. It then takes another two weeks for the caravan to reach the small town near Fort Benton. On August 15, Father Cammillus Imoda can finally shake hands with Sinterklaas (Santa Claus is De Smet's nickname among the Jesuits). De Smet has to rest for a few days. Contact with a poisonous ivy plant has caused him a nasty skin irritation. De Smet then travels with Father Imoda, the young Italians and doctor Martin to St. Peter's mission, which is 120 kilometers away on the Sun River. There, Fathers Giorda and Imoda established a good reputation among both the Blackfoot and the white settlers.
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35. 1863 St Louis-Ft Benton-Oregon
The journey through the country of the Sioux remains very dangerous. There are reports of armed conflicts and massacres everywhere. Even on the Missouri it's not safe anymore. The Robert Campbell is attacked just north of Fort Pierre. Other ships are also shot at, with the result that a number of crew members cannot recount their journey on Missouri. For De Smet, this is a good reason to move further west. He wants to travel to Fort Vancouver with Dr. Martin and some Indian guides. On August 25 they use the newly built Mullan Road (MR) to St. Ignatius. The construction of this 1,000 kilometer long road took 7 years. In fact it is a military road (MR does not stand for Military Road). A large part of it was designed by Captain Mullan before the Civil War. The highway connects the last port of call on the Missouri, the Fort Benton trading post, with the town of Walla Walla on the Columbia River. On the way, De Smet visits Father Joset and Brother William Claessens in Hell Gate (near Missoula, Montana). They are building a new church for the white people. He later runs into Father Joseph Giorda, he is on his way from St. Ignatius to St. Peter. Ten days later they arrive in St. Ignatius. After the Treaty of Hell Gate (1855), Mission Valley became home to a number of confederate tribes, such as the Flathead, the Kootenai, the Kalispel, and the Pend d'Oreille. In the meantime, Father Hoecken was succeeded by the Italian Father Grassi. On September 8, they move from St. Ignatius to Sacred Heart, the mission of the Coeur d'Alênes. On the way, they run into a forest fire. On September 18, they reach Sacred Heart. They stay five days with Fathers Gazzoli and Caruana, Joset's successors. On September 23, they travel by canoe to the southern shore of Lake Coeur d'Alêne, to follow a trail to Walla Walla City. They arrive in the farming community of Walla Walla on October 1. It is unbelievable how quickly this town emerged from nothing with 2,000 pioneers. They stay on the farm of Captain Mullan, who is now happily married. From Walla Walla they take the stagecoach to Wallula, the next day they embark on the transport to the Dalles and from there it is only one day's sailing to Fort Vancouver. On October 8, they reach the city at the old fort and there they meet Blanchet, who in the meantime has become the archbishop of Oregon. On the other side of the Columbia, Portland is gradually growing into a fully-fledged city.

This is De Smet's last visit to his northwest reductions. The missions are not doing badly, but De Smet still feels that the Jesuits are gradually losing the battle to protect the Indians as much as possible. The original population is increasingly coming into contact with the swelling stream of white settlers, with all its consequences. The freedom and way of life of the Indians in the Rockies will soon be a thing of the past.

On October 13, in Portland they book a place on the steamer to San Francisco. The boat first sails to Victoria on Vancouver Island. On October 21, De Smet will say goodbye to doctor Martin in San Francisco. The doctor plans to travel back to Ireland via the west, but only after he has visited Hawaii, the Philippines, China and Japan. In San Francisco, De Smet visits the local Jesuits. He is a guest of father Alois Vercruysse and stays at the St. Ignatius college. He has the photo taken with the beard in Gustavus Sohon's studio. On November 3, De Smet will travel to Panama, where he will arrive on November 17. There he takes the train east and on November 18 he boards the North Star. De Smet arrives in New York on November 26 (Thanksgiving Day). His health is not so good. On December 9, he leaves for St. Louis with Father Coosemans.

When he arrives in Washington D.C. on the way, government officials ask De Smet to talk to the Sioux Indians again. Generals Sibley and Sully failed to bring no more than 6,000 rebellious prairie Indians to their knees. The Sioux are still a formidable enemy. They are vicious, elusive, brave, fast and well-armed. They avoid confrontation, but they are masters of hit and run tactics, ambushes and guerrilla warfare. They have tremendous stamina and, if possible, even more patience. They don't have to defend cities, forts or warehouses and operate in relatively small groups that can move quickly because they don't carry much ballast. Their families usually stay far from the battle scene. De Smet is willing to help the government, but not at the behest of the U.S. He proposes negotiating on his own.

Meanwhile, the Jesuits in St. Louis are very worried. They know that De Smet was dropped off at the Milk River, but they have no idea what happened next. They don't hear from him for months and this time he doesn't have his crucifix with him! But on December 17, De Smet suddenly turns up undamaged in St. Louis. He has covered 18,342 kilometers and has been able to stay out of the hands of the rebels and the Indians. The journey was tiring and De Smet urgently needs to take a rest. He suffers from rheumatism again. His body hurts all over. For 3 months, De Smet can hardly leave his room.

1864

After the winter, De Smet is gradually feeling better.

The policies of the American government are catastrophic for the Indians. The relentless flow of emigrants from Europe increases the pressure to open up more and more land for cities, farms and factories. Meanwhile, the original population, flora and fauna of the new world are sacrificed to this growth. The forests are cut down, the game is shot and the land is plowed, parceled and fenced. As a result, the traditional Indian way of life is made impossible and the original population is pushed further and further west. If around 1830 the border (frontier) still coincides with the Missouri, twenty years later the white tidal wave has taken over most of Missouri and Kansas. When gold and silver are found in Colorado, Nevada, Idaho, Montana and Dakota, the Indians are in the way. They can try to survive on reservations, but that means a life of dependence, dishonor, boredom, discouragement, disease, exploitation, drink, prostitution, theft and begging. Each reservation has an Indian agent who is responsible for keeping the peace, protecting the population from white aggression and but also for gathering intelligence for the US government. It is a political appointment without continuity. Many agents have no understanding or sympathy for the Indians and they are viewed with suspicion by the Indian leaders, not least because a large part of the annual aid money disappears in their pockets. The reservations are getting smaller and smaller. The same pattern is always repeated: gold or silver is found, the first adventurers enter the reservation illegally, the Indians resist and massacres ensue, the public demands the army to intervene, a new treaty follows and the Indians have to move to an even smaller reservation. Most of the thirty thousand prairie Indians prefer to roam as outlaws to the humiliations of such a system. And some of them are willing to defend their freedom to the bitter end. England looks at the American expansion of the past 50 years with envy. It secretly lends a hand to the insurgents by supplying them with weapons through Canadian half-bloods. In that climate, De Smet must try to get the Indians to the negotiating table.

On April 20, De Smet takes the train from St. Louis to St. Joseph. There he hopes to be able to embark on the Yellowstone, but due to problems with the water level, the ship has already left. In Fort Leavenworth, De Smet buys himself a seat on the stagecoach to Omaha. Fortunately, he is able to catch up with the riverboat and board it in Omaha on April 28. Charles Chouteau ensures that De Smet gets a comfortable cabin. It hasn't rained for a long time and the Missouri is very shallow. On the way, De Smet visits the Winnebago Indians who were banished from their homeland in Minnesota after the uprising of the Santee Sioux to a worthless piece of land along the Missouri. They have fled from that reserve and live in miserable conditions on a large island in the river. After twenty days and 389 kilometers, the ship reaches the capital of the Dakota Territory Yankton. From there it goes to Fort Randall. On the way they learn that rebellious Indians are blocking the river, but in spite of everything, the Yellowstone reaches Fort Sully without any problems on May 31. De Smet wants to visit the peace-loving Yankton and Two Kettle Indians. The Yankton chief, Man Who Strikes the Ree, asks De Smet to stay with them. He warns De Smet that the Lakota, the Hunkpapa, the Miniconjou and the Sans Arc, who roam inland are extremely dangerous and will kill him without mercy. On June 9, the Yellowstone reaches Fort Berthold at the mouth of the Little Missouri. A merchant, Frederick Gerard, speaks the same cautionary language. De Smet will send a message to the rebellious Indians and wait for their reply. Meanwhile, De Smet preaches to the Arikara, Gros Ventre and Mandan Indians in their village. Pierre Garreau is his interpreter. The Mandan chief, Soaring Eagle, also requests De Smet to stay with his people. He baptizes 204 children. A few days later it is the turn of the Arikara with chief White Parfleche. He baptizes another 103 children. When one day a group of rebellious Sioux Indians come to steal the horses of the Arikara, they kill a Gros Ventre and injure an Arikara. De Smet understands that the peace-loving Indians are in a difficult position. Not a week goes by without Lakota aggression against the Indians near the fort. The Sioux intimidate the peace-loving tribes to change their opinion. De Smet learns that a large group of Lakota are camping in a valley southwest of Fort Berthold. De Smet wants to go to them immediately, but no one wants accompany him. On June 26, British traders bring a message from 4,000 Santee refugee families camped near the Canadian border. They ask De Smet for help in their negotiations with the American government. De Smet sends them a letter. In early July, a group of 35 Sioux camp in front of Fort Berthold. No one dares to approach them. De Smet does. They are the chiefs of about 500 Yankton families who camp along an arm of the Heart River. After a week more Indians arrive. They are 200 to 300 Ogallala and Brulé under the leadership of the chiefs Black Eyes and Red Dog. Exactly at that moment the Yellowstone also arrives back at Fort Berthold. De Smet is able to convince Captain Charles Chouteau to row across De Missouri with him. On the two small boats they reach the camp of the Sioux. They smoke the pipe of peace and the Indians promise to come to the Yellowstone for consultation. But for some reason they suddenly disappeared. De Smet travels on to General Sully's military stronghold, Fort Rice. On 9 July he has a meeting with the general. De Smet emphasizes that the Indians also want peace. But Sully sees it differently. He wants to punish all Indians who have blood on their hands. In those circumstances De Smet realizes that he cannot do much to stop the hostilities and decides to return to St. Louis. He embarks on the Yellowtone and, as usual, leaves the ship at Fort Leavenworth for a brief visit to St. Mary.
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36. 1864 St Louis-Ft Berthold-St Louis
On July 28, after De Smet's departure, Sully engaged 1,600 Santee and Lakota Indians near Kildeer Moutain. The Indians flee from Sully's cannon fire after losing over a hundred warriors. Sully burns their villages and pursues the fleeing Indians into the Badlands and as far as the Yellowstone River. In August, Sully continues his offensive.

In September, De Smet travels to Washington D.C. to complain to Dole about Sully's harshness. According to De Smet, it is impossible to work with this belligerent general. To keep the peace, the U.S. would be better off sending more missionaries and fewer soldiers to Sioux country. In Washington, De Smet has another matter to settle, because in the meantime the army of the Union has called up a number of Catholic clergy. De Smet can once again convince Stanton to exempt the Jesuits. In addition, he obtains payment of the overdue grant for the schools of the Potawatomi and the Osage Indians.

It's a bad year for the Indians in the South. Kit Carson defeats the Navajo in Canyon de Chelly (Arizona) and Black Kettle's Cheyenne village is massacred in Colorado (Sand Creek Massacre).

At the end of September, De Smet arrives back in St. Louis. He is instructed by the provincial to travel back to Europe as soon as possible to recruit missionaries and collect much needed funds. On October 12, he travels to New York to embark on the China. Destination Liverpool. It will be a turbulent crossing and, moreover, De Smet suffers greatly from Bright's disease, which a few years later will prove fatal. De Smet arrives in Belgium at the beginning of November. As usual, he visits his family and then travels to France (Marseille) and Italy (Civita Vecchia). On November 15, he is in Rome where he meets Pope Pius IX.
 
1865

Back from Rome, De Smet learns that the commander of the Southerners, General Lee, has surrendered on April 23 in Appomatox. The American Civil War is finally over !
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37. The painting by Nicaise De Keyser (commissioned by Ch. van Mossevelde and R. De Smet -coll. P. de Smet).
In Belgium, the missionary is a guest of Charles Rogier who ensures that De Smet receives the Order of King Leopold. He also poses for a painting. The begging effort in Belgium, the Netherlands, Luxembourg, England and Ireland raised 86,500 francs for De Smet. And then it's time to sail back to the U.S. This time twelve new missionaries from Belgium, the Netherlands and Ireland, plus 4 sisters from Notre Dame de Namur will accompany him. On June 2, he leaves Belgium from Ostend and arrives in the U.S. on June 19. Upon his arrival, De Smet is asked to become bishop, this time for the territory of Montana. But again, De Smet chooses to remain in St. Louis in order to devote himself fully to missionary work in Upper Missouri.

In the middle of July, De Smet has a conversation with General Sherman, who has just arrived at his new headquarters near St. Louis. In September, Mrs. Sherman comes to live in St. Louis near her husband, with her son and four daughters. De Smet befriends the Sherman's. Thanks to these contacts, the missionary can explain the point of view of the Indians. De Smet also conceals certain things. On one of his journeys, an Indian confided to the missionary that the Black Hills of southern Dakota contains rich veins of gold. In the meantime, the first gold diggers have already illegally entered the territory of the Indians. The Black Hills area is sacred to the Indians. The white invasion is no less than sacrilege and the Indians make short shrift of every white person they find. It is only when a U.S. military goes to the Black Hills, supposedly to put things right, that De Smet will speak about it. Ironically, after his death, one of the largest mines will be named after him.

Because of his help to the American government, De Smet can count on a lot of sympathy in Washington. He uses that influence to help and protect certain people who were wrong during the Civil War. That is the case for General David Frost, but also for Archbishop Kenrick, who had made no secret of his preference for the Southerners.

In October, the warring Chiefs attend a peace talk in Fort Sully, but the peace does not last very long. Once again the American government asks De Smet to mediate in the ongoing conflict. Even Sully asks De Smet in a letter to set up missions near Fort Berthold and near the Yankton Indians' agency, at Fort Randall.
﻿
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1866 - 1868 : Guest of Sitting Bull


1866

After the Civil War, shipping on the Missouri resumes. Few ships have had Fort Berton as their final destination in recent years. But this year in spring 31 dock near the Fort. One of those ships is the Ontario with which De Smet departed from St. Louis on April 9 accompanying his annual delivery. The journey from St. Louis to Fort Benton takes about 2 months, but De Smet has company. One of the traveling companions is Charles Chouteau, who is gradually withdrawing from the American Fur Company. He no longer travels as the owner of the Ontario, but as a wealthy passenger. The Ontario is a new design with a shallow draft (only 76 cm). At low water levels, that limited draft comes in handy, but the river is swollen this year. Large blocks of ice, uprooted trees and all sorts of flotsam float in the river and the shallow ship struggles to fight against the strong current. In a number of places, the Ontario must therefore be pulled through the strong current with a cable. At one point, a hawser breaks and the ship slams into the rocky shore. There is a hole in the keel, but luckily the pumps can keep the Ontario afloat until the crew can plug the leak. The flow weakens, but caution is needed to avoid sand and mud banks plus all visible and invisible floating or fixed obstacles. When they approach the territory of the Sioux Indians tension rises. The wheelhouse is reinforced against arrows, bullets and other unwanted projectiles. A cannon is placed on the bow, firearms are kept within reach and guards are posted during the night. Sitting Bull and the Hunkpapa Indians block Fort Rice!
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38. 1866 St Louis-Ft Benton-St Louis
On May 8, the Ontario arrives at Fort Sully. Hundreds of peace-loving Sioux Indians live in the vicinity of the fort, albeit in appalling conditions. There is famine. The Indians have already eaten their dogs and horses and they survive on whatever wild roots they can dig up here and there. De Smet can do little more than comfort the unfortunate and condemn the white civilization that has allowed it to come to this. Two days later the Ontario sails to Fort Berthold where the Arikara, the Mandan and the Gros Ventre survive in even worse conditions. During the past winter, no fewer than 50 of these unfortunate Natives died of starvation. The soldiers who have to protect them laugh at the starving Indian women and children who try to get some food from the garbage near the fort. Imagine mothers searching the horse manure for undigested grains to save their little ones from starvation! Defeated, De Smet travels on to Fort Union where they moor without incident on the 25th of May.
missouri.gif
On June 7, after a journey of 57 days, the Ontario reaches its final destination: Fort Benton. No delegation from the St. Peter mission is waiting for him this time. Father Giorda sent a note. Due to the increasing unrest among the Blackfoot Indians, they closed the mission in the spring and the missionaries left for the Little Belt Mountains. They are now safe and sound in St. Ignatius. White prospectors have invaded Alder Gulch, provoking the Blackfoot Indians. In those circumstances, Giorda deemed it safer not to travel to Fort Benton. He asks De Smet to leave the cargo with a reliable inhabitant of Fort Benton. The missionaries will collect the goods later. De Smet entrusts the cargo to a Catholic general of Irish descent, a certain Thomas Meagher. It is the last time that De Smet sails all the way up the Missouri to personally deliver the shipment for the missions in the Rockies. Thanks to the Chouteaus, De Smet has been able to use the transport via the AFC ships free of charge for 10 years now. Chouteau even provided De Smet with people and beasts of burden to transport the cargo over the last 563 kilometers to St. Ignatius. Due to the sale of the Chouteaus, it looks as if the Jesuits will have to pay all travel costs themselves from now on. Fortunately, De Smet can still travel for free with Captain La Barge, but from now on the cargo must go via New York, Panama, San Francisco and Fort Vancouver to Sacred Heart. The new route is faster, 6 weeks instead of 3 months!

After unloading and loading, the Ontario is ready for the return trip to St. Louis. On the return journey, De Smet wants to allocate more time for the Indians along the upper Missouri. At Fort Berthold he leaves the Ontario. With the help of the interpreter, Pierre Garreau, De Smet consoles the Arikara, the Mandan and the Gros Ventre Indians. He baptizes their children (150). At the end of June he will leave aboard the Minor. He disembarks at the Yankton's agency, at the mouth of the James River. He baptizes an old acquaintance: chief Pananniapapi (The man that Strikes the Ree). He promises him to do everything possible to establish a mission. De Smet then takes the next paddle steamer to St. Louis, where he arrives at the beginning of August.

It is very hot (40 degrees in the shade) and a cholera epidemic is once again claiming many victims. De Smet's health is deteriorating again. He even loses part of his hearing during a painful tooth extraction.

Meanwhile, Sitting Bull and the Hunkpapa turn up the heat. They attack the new military complex Fort Buford. The fort is located three kilometers from Fort Union. On August 1, the US government decides to build 3 new forts along a new road from Fort Laramie to the gold fields in Montana. The combative Ogallala Sioux do not accept this provocation. Red Cloud and warriors open a second front and in no time they have killed 154 unwanted travelers along the new Bozeman Trail in 51 skirmishes.

The politician O. H. Browning asks De Smet to help the American government. In return, the government promises to help De Smet set up mission posts near the Yankton. Once more De Smet wants to try, but he refuses any payment.

In the northwest, Father Congiato reopens the old St. Mary's mission on the Bitter Root River near the Flathead. Father Ravalli, who 16 years earlier witnessed the dismantling of St. Mary will run the new mission until his death.

1867

General Sherman asks De Smet to become the godfather of his youngest son: Philemon Tecumseh Sherman. De Smet baptizes the child on January 9 in the St. Briget church.

In February, a delegation of 28 peace-loving Yankton, led by Man Struck by the Ree (Pananniapapi) travels with De Smet to Washington D.C. They insist, among other things, to create a permanent mission post. L. V. Bogy interrogates De Smet about the deeper cause of the conflict with the Ogallala (Red Cloud's war) and proposes to De Smet to act as a special envoy in the peace negotiations.

Thus, on April 12, Major Peter De Smet of the U.S. Army departs from St. Louis through Iowa to Omaha to embark on the Bighorn on April 22. In this way, De Smet hopes to avoid the spring problems with the high water level of the Missouri. He has a cart, two mules, a horse, a few suitcases plus camping gear. On the route from St. Louis to Chicago, the train makes 53 stops, and the journey from Chicago to Omaha is, if anything, even more of an ordeal. Heavy rains have washed away bridges and tracks, and it sometimes takes a full week to repair the damage. De Smet travels the last 43 kilometers by carriage and arrives in Sioux City on April 22. Fortunately, Man Struck by the Ree and the other members of the Yankton delegation are also delayed. The Bighorn is late, so that the party has to leave on April 30 with another ship, the Guidon. The ship is loaded with cargo and passengers for Idaho and Montana. It is the fifteenth ship on its way to Fort Benton that year! The 250 kilometers from Sioux City to Yankton is covered by the Guidon in 6 days. After 3 months of absence, the chiefs at the agency are enthusiastically received. De Smet has to wait for the cargo that was shipped with the Bighorn. In the meantime, De Smet can stay in the house of Alex Gion, the agency's interpreter. De Smet preaches near Yankton. When the cargo arrives, De Smet is ready to head inland. Man Struck by the Ree provides him with a small escort. Completed with Zephyr Rencontre (interpreter), Joseph Picotte (guide) and Pratt, a half-blood, the peace caravan can finally leave on May 21. The nights are still very cold. They reached Fort Thompson on May 26. Near the fort, about a thousand Sioux Indians live in a village of 100 teepees. They are Brulé, Two Kettle and Yankton Indians. Through them, De Smet hopes to find the Ogallala who are making the Bozeman Trail and the construction of the Union Pacific railroad unsafe. Two days later they leave for the old Fort Pierre. On May 30, the caravan arrives at the former fort and there they also visit an Indian village with about two hundred peace-loving Indian families. On June 7, Generals Alfred Sully and Ely Parker arrive. Sully has 5 companies of soldiers with him. The Indians' demands are simple: all soldiers must leave and all traffic by land and along the Missouri must stop. For Sully, these requirements are non-negotiable. The soldiers will not go away before the Indians have buried the hatchet for good. After leaving another call for the warlike tribes, De Smet travels to the new fort Sully on June 9, which is 40 kilometers away. There they board the Graham. De Smet leaves his luggage and transport in the fort. On June 16 they reach the next stop: Fort Rice. A few thousand Sioux stay in 500 tipis nearby. Reportedly, representatives of the hostile Hunkpapa are also among them. Sully, Parker and De Smet listen to the grievances of the Indians. The consultation lasts two days and the atmosphere is positive. On June 19, the soldiers and De Smet sail to Fort Berthold. Four days later, on June 23, they arrive. The fort is not far from the mouth of the Little Missouri. 3,000 Indians live near the fort in appalling conditions. These are the last remaining Arikara, Mandan, Hidatsa (Gros Ventre) and Minitaree Indians. They live together in primitive earthen houses. They are also consulted. On June 24 they embark for the last stretch to the mouth of the Yellowstone and on June 28 they dock at a new fort. After the takeover by the U.S. Fort Union is no longer an ordinary trading post. The strategic location at the mouth of the Yellowstone is now called Fort Buford and is being expanded into a full-fledged military complex. De Smet sends a scout with an invitation to the Crow and the Assiniboin Indians. On July 7, Assiniboin spokesmen arrive, but the Crow remain absent. The delegation decides to wait a week for the Crow. However, the Crow Indians say that it is impossible for them to interrupt their vital buffalo hunt. Sully, Parker and De Smet then decide to sail back east with the Lady Grace. When they reach Fort Rice on July 21, two unpleasant messages await them. Shortly after their departure, a number of Crow showed up at Fort Buford and just before their arrival at Fort Rice, 100 Hunkpapa from the interior, who had accepted De Smet's invitation, left again. In Fort Sully it turns out that the animals and the wagon that De Smet had left behind are in a terrible condition. De Smet boards the Lady Grace again. He will accompany Sully and Parker to Sioux City. At Fort Leavenworth they learn that the Ogallala attacked Fort C. F. Smith and that Red Cloud dealt a heavy blow to the U.S. Army near Fort Phil Kearny (the Fetterman Disaster). President Andrew Johnson still wants a new peace initiative. De Smet wants to help, but he first has to go to St. Louis to pick up material.

[image:  ]

39. 1867 St Louis-Ft Union-St Louis
It is August and very hot. De Smet is feeling weak. He has lost a lot of weight: from 105 to 84 kilos. In St. Louis, doctors diagnose him with Bright's disease (a chronic condition of the kidneys). He has to rest for the rest of the year to regain his strength.

In October, the treaty of Medicine Lodge Creek is agreed with the Indians living south of the Platte River, but in the north the war with the Sioux Indians under the leadership of Red Cloud rages on in full force.

Imagine, De Smet has to confirm to the German Jesuits that he did indeed write all those letters and books himself!

1868

Generals Sully and Parker are impressed by the positive influence De Smet has on the Indians.

The past Civil War was a financial drain and in Washington people are not very keen to put a lot of money into a war with the Prairie Indians. It is cheaper to try to get the Indians around the negotiating table, so the American government asks De Smet once again to help them. They pledge $3,000 a year to fund a Catholic Yankton mission. Despite his weak health, De Smet accepts the proposal. He writes to Charles Galpin, a trader at Fort Rice, to arrange for an interpreter, a wagon, mules, and a wagoner for his arrival. A new peace commission is formed consisting of Generals Sherman, Harney, Sanborn, Terry and Sheridan. De Smet questions Sherman about the success of the negotiations conducted so far. Sherman thinks he was on the right track with the Ogallala and the Brulé along the North Platte in September. But in November, only one chief came to the second round of talks. And at Fort Laramie, no one showed up. In any case, the generals are happy with De Smet's support.

On March 30, De Smet will travel with the peace commission via Chicago to Omaha, which became an important hub for rail traffic. On April 2, De Smet, accompanied by Harney, Terry, Augur (replacing General Sherman), Henderson (senator), Taylor, Sanborn and Tappan (trader), travels with the Union Pacific to Cheyenne. On April 4 they reach the Spotted Tail Agency of the Brulé Sioux on the North Platte River and on April 6 they arrive at Fort Russel, just west of the new town of Cheyenne. There the group splits. One delegation travels south and the rest go to Fort Laramie to talk to the Sioux and Northern Cheyenne. This time De Smet wants to distance himself from the military. He is convinced that traveling alone he can achieve better results. He tracks back to Omaha and on April 21 embarks on the Columbia. It's 33 days to Fort Rice. He is determined to make contact with the rebellious Sioux and convince them to come to the negotiating table with him. He even hopes to meet Sitting Bull and the Hunkpapa Indians who roam the Yellowstone valley between the Powder and the Bighorn Rivers. If all goes well, he might be able to arrange a meeting with Harney, Sanborn, and Terry at Fort Rice.

On May 24, De Smet arrives at the Cannonball River. In Fort Rice everyone is aware of his arrival. News of De Smet's bold plans has spread across the prairie like wildfire. De Smet knows he has to find the Hunkpapa about 400 miles west of the fort. The Indians around Fort Rice want to dissuade De Smet from this dangerous plan, but there is no stopping him. The reckless missionary wants and will approach the Hunkpapa. When they realize that their dissuasion effort is in vain, the Indians want to help the missionary. Eight Lakota and Yankton chiefs offer to accompany the missionary. In the end, the escort numbers 80 souls (including The Log, Two Bears, Running Antelope, All-Over-Black, Ghost Spirit, Burning Cloud, and Sitting Crow). The courageous Charles Galpin will also come along. He has 30 years of experience with the Prairie Indians and knows the great danger they are in. To emphasize the peaceful character of the trip, he will take his Indian wife Eagle Woman with him. She is related to both the Hunkpapa and the Two Kettle.

On June 2, the caravan leaves for the Badlands of Dakota. It's very hot and windy. The Indians notice that the journey for the sixty-seven-year-old missionary is very difficult. On June 8, after 6 days of heat and dust, De Smet asks to take a break. In the meantime four scouts can then search for the Hunkpapa villages. After the break, the main group will travel slowly along the agreed route, so that the scouts can catch up with them. The scouts are given some tobacco as a peace signal. 5 days later the heat becomes even more unbearable. On June 15, near Beaver Creek, De Smet asks to halt and wait for the scouts. A day later, De Smet sees the scouts returning through his binoculars. They are accompanied by 18 Hunkpapa warriors!

They smoke the pipe of peace. Four Horns, the leader of the Hunkpapa village wants to receive them. During the night the Indians have a party. De Smet sends a messenger to General Terry to inform him that they have made contact.

On June 19, the delegation arrives in the village of Four Horns. It is located at the confluence of the Yellowstone and the Powder. It is not long before a large group of warriors rides towards them. When the 500 horsemen are only 800 meters away, De Smet unfurls a banner of the Sacred Heart and the Virgin Mary. The Hunkpapa think for a moment it's the Stars and Stripes and fear a trap. They fan out in battle order. Fortunately, there are a few cold-blooded warriors who dare to come a little closer. After some explanation they are reassured. The crisis is over.

The procession reaches a fairly large tent camp (600 teepees for 4,000 Indians). Everyone is drumming to catch a glimpse of the Great Black Robe. For De Smet, these are still the real independent savages. Suddenly, Sitting Bull emerges from his tent to greet the missionary. Sitting Bull is friendly and takes personal care of De Smet and the Galpins in his own tent. Not a superfluous luxury, because the Sioux have a code of honor to kill the first white person they encounter when a family member has been killed by a white person. In Sitting Bull's tent, De Smet falls into a deep sleep.

When he wakes up he finds Sitting Bull, Four Horns, Black Moon and No Neck waiting for him. They want to know what De Smet has to say. The next day they will organize a big meeting. And indeed on June 20, at 01:00 p.m., the Great Powder River Council will start. The Indians listen politely and attentively to what De Smet has to say. Then Black Moon, Sitting Bull, Two Bears (Yankton) and Running Antelope (Brulé) give their take on the matter. After 4 hours of deliberation, the Hunkpapa decide to send a delegation of 160 Indians with him to Fort Rice. The Hunkpapa ask to keep the banner. De Smet pleases them. Sitting Bull receives a crucifix from De Smet. It was a tiring but successful day. De Smet falls into a deep sleep again in Sitting Bull's house.

The next day is Sunday and because he wants to leave early, De Smet celebrates mass at 4:30. Sitting Bull and three other chiefs escort De Smet into the Powder valley. Eight Hunkpapa warriors led by Gall will travel to Fort Rice. In total, the Hunkpapa peace mission consists of 30 families (men, women and children). On June 25, they send All-Over-Black from Box Elder camp as a messenger to Fort Rice. Terry is pleasantly surprised and returns the messenger on June 28 with congratulations and the message that Terry, Harney and Sanborn are eagerly awaiting them. On July 1, after a 10-day journey, the delegation reaches Fort Rice.

Deliberation starts the next day. 50,000 Prairie Indians camp along the banks of the Missouri, an unprecedented concentration. Each chief gives a speech. The generals read the new treaty of Fort Laramie, which was already signed on May 11 by the other Sioux in the south. The treaty stipulates that the Sioux will be allocated one large Sioux reservation. The reservation corresponds to the portion of South Dakota west of the Missouri River. For the next 30 years, the Sioux can count on rationing and the mediation of a government agent. All forts along the hated Bozeman Trail will be shut down. All the Indians sign, including Gall, Sitting Bull's representative, but he underlines that all forts must go, that all traffic through Indian territory, including shipping on the Missouri, must be stopped, and that all whites must leave Indian territory. De Smet also signs. Once again Terry, Sanborn and Harney are very grateful to De Smet.

For the Americans, this is De Smet's most important contribution in their efforts to bring about a lasting peace between the whites and the Indians. One thing is certain, De Smet has taken a big risk. No other white man would have had escaped alive from the 5,000 rebellious Sioux led by Sitting Bull.
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40. 1868 St Louis-Cheynne-Ft Rice-Powder-St Louis
On July 4, De Smet sails east with the Agnes. At Fort Sully, De Smet leaves Terry, Sanborn, and the other committee members, in order to spend some time with the local Indians. On July 11, he embarks on another boat. In Fort Leavenworth he disembarks again with the intention of taking a look at the St. Mary mission, near the Potawatomi in Kansas. It is July 29 and terribly hot. Kansas is hit by a heat wave with temperatures reaching 45° in the shade. At the end of August, De Smet finally reaches St. Louis after a tiring journey of 9,654 kilometres. He is exhausted and fears he may not have long to live. He doesn't waste any time and puts his experiences on paper for Father Terwecoren.

In September Sitting Bull again attacks Fort Buford with 150 warriors. They steal the horses...

De Smet, on the advice of provincial Coosemans, goes to Belgium to have his health examined. He also wants to try and raise funds to start the mission with the Yankton. On November 21, he departs from St. Louis to embark for Europe on November 25 in New York. During the crossing, the ship is caught in a flying storm. De Smet slips on the slippery deck and breaks 2 ribs. It will take until the arrival in Liverpool for him to be treated.

On 29/12 he celebrates the wedding mass of his cousin Paul in Kortrijk.
﻿
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1869 - 1873 : Farewell to a friend


1869 

In our country, the doctors cannot cure De Smet of his deafness, but that does not prevent him from collecting money. He travels through Belgium, the Netherlands and France. As usual, De Smet also takes the necessary time to visit his family. He attends a communion party.

He will return to the U.S. in June. back, this time aboard the City of Dublin.

At the beginning of July there is another heat wave in St. Louis. The journey to Europe and the heat have exhausted De Smet again. He has to keep room and rest for a long time. He still suffers from Bright's disease. When autumn brings more cooling, De Smet gradually feels better. So good in fact that he can accompany six sisters on their way to Omaha on a mission to the Blackfoot Indians. He pays for their travel expenses and ensures that they have the necessary comforts as far as Fort Benton. De Smet covers 1,930 kilometers there and back. In November De Smet visits the mission of St. Mary in Kansas. That is also 1,287 kilometers round trip. His visit to St. Mary is a deep disappointment. Again and again he is confronted with the bad influence of the whites on the Indians. The Potawatomi are in very bad shape. In December, De Smet will travel to Chicago and Milwaukee to raise money.

1870

After the spring, De Smet feels a bit better. He plans to travel all the way to Fort Berthold. On June 1, De Smet will leave with the Far West, accompanied by Father Ignatius Panken. Panken is a Dutchman who went to the U.S. with the 1857 batch. Their goal is to establish a mission station in the Grand River country (near present-day Mobridge, South Dakota). The Indians welcome the initiative. De Smet and Panken baptized a hundred Indians between the Whetstone Agency (north of Fort Randall) and the Grand River Agency (south of Fort Rice). In Grand River, he seeks out Eagle Women, who lives alone with her daughters after Galpin's death. De Smet abandons his plan to travel via Fort Rice to Fort Berthold and thus visit more tribes. Feeling too weak again, he returns to St. Louis as soon as possible in August. This is his last journey west. He has to keep room and works on the history of the Jesuits in Missouri.
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41. 1870 St Louis-Ft Rice-St Louis
1871

In February, President Grant, himself a Methodist, decides that the Indian reservations should be run by persons of religious background. Columbus Delano invites De Smet to participate in this plan. The first meeting in Washington D.C. brings together representatives of 13 religions. The Catholic community is entitled to many reservations, for all together the Jesuits, Franciscans, Oblates and other Catholic communities in the west have built up 43 missions and thus exert influence over more than 100,000 Indians. But it turns out differently. The Protestants can count on more political support and the facts are adjusted a bit. De Smet is not completely blameless either, because he has not thoroughly prepared the Catholic case. In particular, he seems to have insufficient information to be able to refute the claims of the opposing party. The result is that Catholic missionary work comes off badly. They are only allowed to appoint an agent for four reservations and thus lose their influence on no less than 39 Indian nations, including the Coeur d'Alêne, the Blackfoot and the Potawatomi. Grand River is one of those four assigned agencies. John Connor is appointed as an agent and fathers Francis Kuppens and Peter De Meester become missionaries. However, the corrupt administration of President Grant does not come up with the necessary money, so that De Smet once again feels obliged to look for funds in Europe himself.

On July 1, De Smet will travel with the City of New York to Liverpool, where he will arrive on July 14. He travels through Belgium, the Netherlands, Luxembourg, France, England and Ireland to raise money.

Meanwhile, Kuppens and De Meester try to fathom the Sioux language with the help of Two Bears, a Yankton chief.

On October 10, a grand celebration is organized at the University of St. Louis to commemorate the fiftieth anniversary of the entry of Van Assche and Verreydt into the novitiate of Florissant. Together with Father Van Quickenborne and De Smet, these pioneers have built the Jesuit community in St. Louis. Unfortunately, De Smet is not able to celebrate this important milestone.

1872

The begging tour demands a lot from De Smet's strength and in January he has to take some rest in our country. He gives Father Francis Deynoodt permission to collect his letters and publications for a biography. On February 12, during a lecture in a Brussels college, De Smet suddenly becomes unwell. He is in pain and losing a lot of blood. His family is so shocked that they travel to Lourdes.

When De Smet recovers, he wants to return to his adopted homeland as soon as possible. On April 7, De Smet leaves Belgium for the last time via Antwerp with the City of Paris, this time with nine recruits and 66,000 francs (12,000 $) in his pocket. The amount is sufficient to start the planned mission. 18 days later, De Smet arrives in St. Louis.

In the meantime, Delano has appointed De Smet as advisor. But he thanks for the honour, he is too sick and has to stay home.

1873

Honouring the famous missionary, captain La Barge names his newbuilt steamer the De Smet. It is a nice gesture and De Smet accepts sponsorship of the new vessel. To baptize the brand new ship, he agrees to be taken by carriage to the port of St. Louis on May 13. But after a short ceremony, De Smet quickly hurries back to his room in the university building. It is his last public appearance. The next day, De Smet also celebrates his last mass. On May 20, he receives the sacraments of the dying and three days later, on May 23, 1873 at 2:15, Father Peter John De Smet, S.J., better known to the Indians as the Great Black Robe, dies.

On May 24, the deceased missionary is buried. Father Van Assche conducts a funeral service in the St. Franciscus Xaverius church. Those in attendance include the Archbishop of St. Louis, Monsignor Kenrick, David Frost, Bishop Patrick Ryan and General Harney. In St. Louis, thousands of people mourn when De Smet is buried in the cemetery of the St. Stanislaus novitiate in Florissant, next to Van Quickenborne, De Theux, Elet, Van de Velde, Smedts and Verhaegen.
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42. Tombstone of Father De Smet (Florissant cemetery, now gone - coll. P. de Smet)
The obituary reaches Captain La Barge via the telegraph in Sioux City, Iowa. With the flag at half-mast, the De Smet brings the sad news to all the forts, settlements and Indian villages on the banks of the waterway De Smet knew so well.

De Smet's estate is $6,000. The amount will be allocated to the mission work in Oregon.

In all, De Smet has covered about 290,000 kilometers in 30 years.

It is certain that with the passing of Peter John De Smet the Indians have lost a friend and a sincere ally.
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43. Novitiate in Florissant (own photo)﻿
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